

Lit 3 For In the

A N

E N Q U I R Y

POLITICAL JUSTICE.

AN

ENQUIRY

CONCERNING

POLITICAL JUSTICE,

AND

ITS INFLUENCE

GENERAL VIRTUE AND HAPPINESS.

WILLIAM GODWIN.

IN TWO VOLUMES.

VOL. I.

LONDON:

PRINTED FOR G. G. J. AND J. ROBINSON, PATERNOSTER-ROW.

E W works of literature are held in greater estimation, than those which treat in a methodical and elementary way of the principles of science. But the human mind in every enlightened age is progressive; and the best elementary treatises after a certain time are reduced in their value by the operation of fubsequent discoveries. Hence it has always been desired by candid enquirers, that preceding works of this kind should from time to time be superseded, and that other productions including the larger views that have fince offered themselves, should be substituted in their place.

.... It would be strange if something of this kind were not desirable in politics, after the great change that has been produced in men's minds upon this subject, and the light that has been

and the section had been been to be the section and a section.

the reader must judge.

Authors who have formed the defign of super-seding the works of their predecessors, will be found, if they were in any degree equal to the design, not merely to have collected the scattered information that had been produced upon the subject, but to have increased the science with the fruit of their own meditations. In the following work principles will occasionally be found, which it will not be just to reject without examination, merely because they are new. It was impossible perseveringly to reslect upon so prolific a science, and a science which may be said to be yet in its infancy, without being led into ways of thinking that were in some degree uncommon.

Another

Another argument in favour of the utility of fuch a work was frequently in the author's mind, and therefore ought to be mentioned. He conceived politics to be the proper vehicle of a liberal morality. That description of ethics deserves to be held in flight, estimation, which seeks only to regulate our conduct in articles of particular and personal concern, instead of exciting our attention to the general good of the species. It appeared sufficiently practicable to make of such a treatife, exclusively of its direct political use, an advantageous vehicle of moral improvement. He was accordingly defirous of producing a work, from the perusal of which no man should rife without being strengthened in habits of sincerity, fortitude and justice.

Having stated the considerations in which the work originated, it is proper to mention a few circumstances of the outline of its history. The sentiments it contains are by no means the suggestions of a sudden effervescence of fancy. Political enquiry

quiry had long held a foremost place in the writer's: attention. It is now twelve years fince he became fatisfied, that monarchy was a species of government unavoidably corrupt. He owed this conviction to the political writings of Swift and to a perusal of the Latin historians. Nearly at the fame time he derived great additional instruction from reading the most considerable French writers upon the nature of man in the following order, Système de la Nature, Rousseau and Helvetius. Long before he thought of the present work, he had familiarised to his mind the arguments it contains on justice, gratitude, rights of man; promises, oaths and the omnipotence of truth. Political complexity is one of the errors that take strongest hold on the understanding; and it was only by ideas fuggested by the French revolution, that he was reconciled to the defirableness of a government of the simplest construction. To the same event he owes the determination of mind which gave existence to this work.

Such was the preparation which encouraged him to undertake the present treatise. The direct execution may be dismissed in a few words. It was projected in the month of May 1791: the composition was begun in the following September, and has therefore occupied a space of sixteen months. This period was devoted to the purpose with unremitted ardour. It were to be wished it had been longer; but it seemed as if no contemptible part of the utility of the work depended upon its early appearance.

The printing of the following treatife, as well as the composition, was influenced by the same principle, a desire to reconcile a certain degree of dispatch with the necessary deliberation. The printing was for that reason commenced, long before the composition was finished. Some disadvantages have arisen from this circumstance. The ideas of the author became more perspicuous and digested, as his enquiries advanced. The longer he considered the subject, the more accu-

Such

b

rately

The period in which the work makes its appearance is fingular. The people of England have affiduously been excited to declare their loy-

on after the time later within prealing training

alty, and to mark every man as obnoxious who is not ready to fign the Shibboleth of the constitution. Money is raifed by voluntary subscription to defray the expence of profecuting men who shall dare to promulgate heretical opinions, and thus to oppress them at once with the enmity of government and of individuals. This was an accident wholly unforeseen when the work was undertaken; and it will scarcely be supposed that such an accident could produce any alteration in the writer's defigns. Every man, if we may believe the voice of rumour, is to be profecuted who fhall appeal to the people by the publication of any unconstitutional paper or pamphlet; and it is added, that men are to be profecuted for any unguarded words; that may i be i dropped in the warmth of conversation and debate. It is now to be tried whether, in addition to these alarming encroachments upon our liberty, a book is to fall under the arm of the civil power, which, beside the advantage of having for one of its express ob-

jects the diffuading from all tumult and violence,

But, exclusively of this precarious and unimportant consideration, it is the fortune of the prefent work to appear before a public that is panic struck, and impressed with the most dreadful apprehensions of such doctrines as are here delivered. All the prejudices of the human mind are in arms against it. This circumstance may appear to be of greater importance than the other. But

can befal him, that can ever bring along with it a

more satisfactory consolation.

But it is the property of truth to be fearless, and to prove victorious over every adversary. It requires no great degree of fortitude, to look with indifference upon the false fire of the moment, and to foresee the calm period of reason which

PREFACE.

JANUARY 7, 1793;

will fucceed.

OFTHE

FIRST VOLUME.

воок і.

OF THE IMPORTANCE OF POLITICAL INSTITUTIONS.

воок и.

PRINCIPLES OF SOCIETY.

BOOK. III.

PRINCIPLES OF GOVERNMENT.

BOOK IV.

MISCELLANEOUS PRINCIPLES.

OF THE

FIRST BOOK.

OF THE IMPORTANCE OF POLITICAL
INSTITUTIONS.

CHAP. I.

INTRODUCTION

THE subject proposed.—System of indifference—of passive obedience—of liberty.—System of liberty extended. Page 1

CHAP. II.

HISTORY OF POLITICAL SOCIETY.

Frequency of war—among the ancients—among the moderns—the
French—the English.—Causes of war.—Penal laws.—Defpotism.—Deduction.—Enumeration of arguments.

5

CHAP.

CHAP. III.

THE MORAL CHARACTERS OF MEN ORIGINATE IN THEIR PERCEPTIONS.

No innate principles.—Objections to this affertion—from the early actions of infants—from the desire of self-preservation—from self-love—from pity—from the vices of children—tyranny—sullenness.—Conclusion.

Page 12

CHAP. IV.

THREE PRINCIPAL CAUSES OF MORAL IMPROVE-MENT CONSIDERED.

I. LITERATURE.

Benefits of literature.—Examples.—Essential properties of literature.

—Its defects.

II. EDUCATION.

Benefits of education.—Causes of its imbecility.

III. POLITICAL JUSTICE.

Benefits of political institution.—Universality of its insluence—proved by the mistakes of society.—Origin of evil.

CHAP. V.

INFLUENCE OF POLITICAL INSTITUTIONS EXEMPLIFIED.

Robbery and fraud, two great vices in fociety—originate, 1. in extreme poverty—2. in the oftentation of the rich—3. in their tyranny

CONTENTS.

tyranny—rendered permanent—1. by legislation—2. by the administration of law—3. by the inequality of conditions. Page 33

CHAP. VI.

HUMAN INVENTIONS CAPABLE OF PERPETUAL IM-PROVEMENT.

Perfectibility of man—inflanced, first, in language. — Its beginnings.

—Abstraction.—Complexity of language.—Second instance: alphabetical writing.—Hieroglyphics at first universal.—Progressive deviations.—Application.

43

CHAP. VII.

OF THE OBJECTION TO THESE PRINCIPLES FROM THE INFLUENCE OF CLIMATE.

PART I.

OF MORAL AND PHYSICAL CAUSES.

The question stated.—Provinces of sensation and restection.—Moral causes frequently mistaken for physical.—Superiority of the former evident from the varieties of human character.—Operation of physical causes rare.—Fertility of restection.—Physical causes in the sirst instance superior, afterwards moral.—Objection from the effect of breed in animals.—Conclusion.

PART

b 2

PART II.

OF NATIONAL CHARACTERS.

Character of the priesthood.—All nations capable of liberty.—The assertion illustrated.—Experience favours these reasonings.—Means of introducing liberty.

Page 60

CHAP. VIII.

OF THE OBJECTION TO THESE PRINCIPLES FROM THE INFLUENCE OF LUXURY.

The objection stated.—Source of this objection.—Refuted from mutability—from mortality—from the nature of truth.—The probability of perseverance considered.

BOOK II.

PRINCIPLES OF SOCIETY.

CHAP. I.

INTRODUCTION.

Nature of the enquiry.—Mode of pursuing it.—Distinction between fociety and government 77

CONTENTS.

CHAP. II.

OF JUSTICE.

Connection of politics and morals.—Extent and meaning of justice.—
Subject of justice: mankind.—Its distribution measured by the capacity of its subject—by bis usefulness.—Family affection considered.—Gratitude considered.—Objections: from ignorance—from utility.—An exception stated.—Degrees of justice.—Application.—Idea of political justice.

Page 80

APPENDIX, No. I.

OF SUICIDE

Motives of suicide: 1. escape from pain - 2. benevolence. - Martyrdom considered.

APPENDIX, No. II.

OF DUELLING.

Motives of duelling: 1. revenge—2. reputation for courage.— Fallacy of this motive.—Objection answered.—Illustration. 94

CHAP. III.

OF DUTY.

A difficulty stated.—Of absolute and practical virtue.—Impropriety of this distinction.—Universality of what is called practical virtue

—instanced

-instanced in robbery-in religious fanaticism.-The quality of an action distinct from the disposition with which it is performed .--Farther difficulty .- Meaning of the term, duty .- Application .-Page 97 Inferences.

CHAP. IV.

OF THE EQUALITY OF MANKIND.

Physical equality.—Objection.—Answers.—Moral equality.—How limited.—Province of political justice.

CHAP. V:

RIGHTS OF MAN.

The question stated .- Foundation of society .- Opposite rights impossible.—Conclusion from these premises.—Discretion considered.— Rights of kings .- Immoral consequences of the doctrine of rights .-Rights of communities .- Objections: 1. the right of mutual aid. -Explanation .- Origin of the term, right .- 2. rights of private judgment and of the press.—Explanation.—Reasons of this limitation upon the functions of the community: 1. the inutility of attempting restraint-2. its pernicious tendency.-Conclusion.

109

CHAP. VI.

OF THE EXERCISE OF PRIVATE JUDGMENT.

Foundation of virtue.—Human actions regulated: 1. by the nature of things-2. by positive institution.—Tendency of the latter: 1.

CONTENTS.

to excite virtue.—Its equivocal character in this respect.—2. to inform the judgment.—Its inaptitude for that purpose.—Province of conscience considered. - Tondency of an interserence with that province.—Recapitulation.—Arguments in favour of positive institution: 1. the necessity of repelling private injustice. - Objections: the uncertainty of evidence—the diversity of motives the unsuitableness of the means of correction-either to impress new fentiments-or to strengthen old ones .- Punishment for the fake of example considered.—Urgency of the case.—2. rebellion -3. war.-Objections.-Reply.

BOOK III.

PRINCIPLES OF GOVERNMENT.

CHAP. I.

SYSTEMS OF POLITICAL WRITEKS.

The question stated .- First by pothesis: government founded in superior strength .- Second by pothesis: government jure divino .-Third hypothesis: the social contract.—The first hypothesis examined .- The second .- Criterion of divine right : 1. patriarchal descent-2. justice.

CHAP. II.

OF THE SOCIAL CONTRACT.

Queries proposed.—Who are the contracting parties?—What is the form of engagement?—Over how long a period does the contract extend?—To how great a variety of propositions?—Can't extend to laws hereafter to be made?—Addresses of adhesion considered.—Power of a majority.

Page 143

CHAP. III.

OF PROMISES.

The validity of promises examined.—Shown to be inconsistent with justice—to be foreign to the general good.—Of the expectation excited.—The fulfilling expectation does not imply the validity of a promise.—Conclusion.

CHAP. IV.

OF POLITICAL AUTHORITY.

Common deliberation the true foundation of government—proved from the equal claims of mankind—from the nature of our faculties—from the object of government—from the effects of common deliberation.—Delegation vindicated.—Difference between the doctrine: here maintained and that of a focial contract apparent—from the merely prospective nature of the former—from the nullity of promises—from the fallibility of deliberation.—Conclusion.

CHAP.

CONTENTS.

CHAP. V.

OF LEGISLATION.

Society can declare and interpret, but cannot enact.—Its authority only executive. Page 166

CHAP. VI.

OF OBEDIENCE.

Obedience not the correlative of authority.—No man bound to yield obedience to another.—Case of submission considered.—Foundation of obedience.—Usefulness of social communication.—Case of considered considered.—Its limitations.—Mischief of unlimited considered.—Subjection explained.

APPENDIX.

Moral principles frequently elucidated by incidental reflection—by incidental passages in various authors.—Example. 176

CHAP. VII.

OF FORMS OF GOVERNMENT.

Argument in favour of a variety of forms—compared with the argument in favour of a variety of religious creeds.—That there is one best form of government proved—from the unity of truth—from the nature of man.—Objection from human weakness and prejudice.—Danger in establishing an impersect code.—Manners

of nations produced by their forms of government.—Gradual improvement necessary.—Simplicity chiefly to be desired.—Publication of truth the grand instrument—by individuals, not by government—the truth entire, and not by parcels.—Sort of progress to be desired.

Page 179

BOOK IV.

MISGELLANEOUS PRINCIPLES

CHAP. L

OF RESISTANCE.

Every individual the judge of his own refistance.—Objection.—
Answered from the nature of government—from the modes of refistance.—I. Force rarely to be employed—either where there is small prospect of success—or where the prospect is great.—History of Charles the first estimated.—2. Reasoning the legitimate mode.

CHAP.

CONTENTS.

CHAP. II.

OF REVOLUTIONS.

SECTION L

DUTIES OF A CITIZEN.

Obligation to Support the constitution of our country considered—
must arise either from the reason of the case, or from a personal
and local consideration.—The sirst examined.—The second.

Page 198

SECTION II.

MODE OF EFFECTING REVOLUTIONS:

Persuasion the proper instrument—not violence—nor resentment.

Lateness of event desirable.

202

SECTION III.

OF POLITICAL ASSOCIATIONS.

Meaning of the term.—Associations objected to—1. from the sort of persons with whom a just revolution should originate—2. from the danger of tumult.—Objects of association.—In what cases admissible.—Argued for from the necessity to give weight to opinion—from their tendency to ascertain opinion.—Unnecessary for these purposes.—General inutility.—Concessions.—Importance of social communication.—Propriety of teaching resistance considered. 205

SECTION

C :

SECTION IV.

OF THE SPECIES OF REFORM TO BE DESIRED.

Ought it to be partial or entire?—Truth may not be partially taught,—Partial reformation confidered.—Objection.—Answer.

—Partial reform indispensible.—Nature of a just revolution—bow distant?

Page 219

CHAP. III.

OF TYRANNICIDE.

Diversity of opinions on this subject.—Argument in its vindication.—
The destruction of a tyrant not a case of exception.—Consequences of tyrannicide.—Assassination described.—Importance of sincerity.

CHAP. IV.

OF THE CULTIVATION OF TRUTH.

SECTION L

OF ABSTRACT OR GENERAL TRUTH.

Its importance as conducing—to our intellectual improvement—to our moral improvement.—Virtue the best source of happiness.—Proved by comparison—by its manner of adapting itself to all situations—by its undecaying excellence—cannot be effectually propagated but by a cultivated mind.—Importance of general truth to our political improvement.

CONTENTS.

SECTION IL

OF SINCERITY.

Nature of this virtue.—Its effects—upon our own actions—upon our neighbours.—Its tendency to produce fortitude.—Effects of infincerity.—Character which sincerity would acquire to him who practised it.—Objections.—The fear of giving unnecessary pain.—
Answer.—The desire of preserving my life.—This objection proves too much.—Answer.—Secrecy considered.—The secrets of others.
—State secrets.—Secrets of philanthropy.

Page 238

APPENDIX, No. I.

OF THE CONNEXION BETWEEN UNDERSTANDING AND VIRTUE.

Can eminent virtue exist unconnected with talents?— Nature of virtue.—It is the offspring of understanding.—It generates under-flanding.—Illustration from other pursuits—love—ambition—applied.

Can eminent talents exist unconnected with virtue?—Argument in the affirmative from analogy—in the negative from the universality of moral speculation—from the nature of vice as sounded in mistake.—The argument balanced.—Importance of a sense of justice.—Its connexion with talents.—Illiberality with which men of talents are usually treated.

253.

APPENDIX,

APPENDIX, No. II.

OF THE MODE OF EXCLUDING VISITORS.

Its impropriety argued—from the situation in which it places, 1. the visitor—2. the servant.—Objections:—Pretended necessity of this practice, 1. to preserve us from intrusion—2. to free us from disagreeable acquaintance.—Characters of the honest and dishonest man in this respect compared.

Page 265

APPENDIX, No. III.

SUBJECT OF SINCERITY RESUMED.

A case proposed.—Arguments in savour of concealment.—Previous question: Is truth in general to be partially communicated?—Customary effects of sincerity—of infincerity—upon him who practises it—1. the suspension of improvement—2. misanthropy—3. disingenuity—upon the spectators.—Sincerity delineated.—Its general importance.—Application.—Duty respecting the choice of a residence.

CHAP. V.

OF FREE WILL AND NECESSITY.

Imfortance of the question.—Definition of necessity.—Why supposed to exist in the operations of the material universe.—The case of the operations of mind is parallel.—Indications of necessity—in history—in our judgments of character—in our schemes of policy—in our ideas

CONTENTS.

ideas of moral discipline.—Objection from the fallibility of our expectations in human conduct.—Answer.—Origin and universality of the sentiment of free will.—The sentiment of necessity also universal.—The truth of this sentiment argued from the nature of volition.—Hypothesis of free will examined.—Self-determination.—Indifference.—The will not a distinct faculty.—Free will disadvantageous to its possessor of no service to morality. Page 283

C H A P. VI.

INFERENCES FROM THE DOCTRINE OF NECESSITY.

Idea it suggests to us of the universe.—Instuence on our moral ideas

—action—virtue—exertion—persuasion—exhortation—ardour—
complacence and aversion—punishment—repentance—praise and
blame—intellectual tranquillity.—Language of necessity recommended.

CHAP. VII.

and the state of t

OF THE MECHANISM OF THE HUMAN MIND.

Nature of mechanism.—Its classes, material and intellectual.—
Material system, or of vibrations.—The intellectual system most probable—from the consideration that thought would otherwise be a superfluity—from the established principles of reasoning from effects to causes.—Objections resuted.—Thoughts which produce animal motion may be—1. Involuntary.—All animal motions were first involuntary.—2. Unattended with consciousness.—The

mind cannot have more than one thought at any one time.—Objection to this affertion from the case of complex ideas—from various mental operations—as comparison—apprehension—rapidity of the succession of ideas.—Application.—Duration measured by consciousness.—3. A distinct thought to each motion may be unnecessary—apparent from the complexity of sensible impressions.

—The mind always thinks.—Conclusion.—The theory applied to the phenomenon of walking—to the circulation of the blood.—Of motion in general.—Of dreams.

Page 318

CHAP. VIII.

OF THE PRINCIPLE OF VIRTUE.

Hypotheses of benevolence and self love—superiority of the former.—
Action is either voluntary or involuntary.—Nature of the first of these classes.—Argument that results from it.—Voluntary action has a real existence.—Consequence of that existence.—Experimental view of the subject.—Suppositions suggested by the advocates of self love—that we calculate upon all occasions the advantage to accrue to us.—Falseness of this supposition.—Supposition of a contrary sort.—We do not calculate what would be the uneasiness to result from our refraining to act—either in relieving distress—or in adding to the stock of general good.—Uneasiness an accidental member of the process.—The suppositions inconsistently blended.—Scheme of self love recommended from the propensity of mind to abbreviate

CONTENTS.

abbreviate its process—from the simplicity that obtains in the natures of things.—Hypothesis of self love incompatible with virtue.—Conclusion.—Importance of the question.—Application.

Page 341

CHAP. IX.

OF THE TENDENCY OF VIRTUE.

It is the read to happiness—to the esteem and affection of others.— Objection from misconstruction and calumny.—Answer.—Virtue compared with other modes of procuring esteem .- Vice and not virtue is the subject of obloquy-instanced in the base alloy with which our virtues are mixed-in arrogance and oftentation-in the vices in which persons of moral excellence allow themselves. - The virtuous man only has friends. - Virtue the read to prosperity and success in the world-applied to commercial transactions-to cases that depend upon patronage. - Apparent exceptions where the dependent is employed as the instrument of vice. - Virtue compared with other modes of becoming prosperous. -Source of the difrepute of virtue in this respect. - Concession. -Case where convenient vice bids fair for concealment.—Chance of detection.-Indolence-apprehensiveness-and depravity the off-362 spring of vice.

CONCERNING TO THE

POLITICAL JUSTICÈ.

Opported that a proof of the continuous light on the lates tim the religion of the spirit of the time return the discount of the

The state of the s

the end of a light of the course of a showledge at the provention has the

- The cities and and by fauthorities with a

Linguist of the William Land of the state of the wife of the state of Aurentie - Ingeleer op 1900 on de Viele vijn voor bestelling dat

of white this all the book placed and alphasia make a policies.

कर राज्य हुं हुए हुए सामार्थ है। इस रहार के देश के राज्य है का राज्य के नाम है।

and the control of th

They alknow considered the first fill of a sound of the continue of

a left a liverilla a makelita silligen at te articulal aliment dibits.

OF THE IMPORTANCE OF POLITICAL INSTITUTIONS.

CHAP.

sagaille d'hair à guagh a

INTRODUCTION.

THE SUBJECT PROPOSED .- SYSTEM OF INDIFFERENCE-OF PASSIVE OBEDIENCE—OF LIBERTY.—SYSTEM OF LIBERTY EXTENDED.

THE question which first presents itself in an enquiry concerning political institution, relates to the importance of The subject the topic which is made the fubject of enquiry. All men will proposed. grant that the happiness of the human species is the most desirable object for human science to promote; and that intellectual and moral happiness or pleasure is extremely to be preferred

BOOK I. to those which are precarious and transitory. The methods. which may be proposed for the attainment of this object, are various. If it could be proved that a found political institution was of all others the most powerful engine for promoting individual good, or on the other hand that an erroneous and corrupt government was the most formidable adversary to the improvement of the species, it would follow that politics was the first and most important subject of human investigation.

The opinions of mankind in this respect have been divided. By one fet of men it is affirmed, that the different degrees of excellence ascribed to different forms of government are rather imaginary than real; that in the great objects of superintendance. no government will eminently fail; and that it is neither the duty nor the wisdom of an honest and industrious individual tobufy himself with concerns so foreign to the sphere of his industry. A fecond class, in adopting the same principles, have given to them a different turn. Believing that all governments are nearly equal in their merit, they have regarded anarchy as the only political mischief that deserved to excite alarm, and have been the zealous and undiftinguishing adversaries of all innovation. Neither of these classes has of course been inclined to ascribe to the science and practice of politics a pre-eminence: over every other.

of liberty.

But the advocates of what is termed political liberty have al-

ways been numerous. They have placed this liberty principally BCOK I. CHAP. I. in two articles; the fecurity of our persons, and the security of our property. They have perceived that these objects could not be effected but by the impartial administration of general laws, and the investing in the people at large a certain power sufficient to give permanence to this administration. They have pleaded, some for a less and some for a greater degree of equality among the members of the community; and they have confidered this equality as infringed or endangered by enormous taxation, and the prerogatives and privileges of monarchs and aristocratical bodies.

INTRODUCTION.

But, while they have been thus extensive in the object of their demand, they feem to have agreed with the two former classes in regarding politics as an object of subordinate importance, and only in a remote degree connected with moral improvement. They have been prompted in their exertions rather by a quick fense of justice and disdain of oppression, than by a consciousness of the intimate connection of the different parts of the focial fystem, whether as it relates to the intercourse of individuals, or to the maxims and institutes of states and nations *.

It may however be reasonable to consider whether the science System of liof politics be not of somewhat greater value than any of these

* These remarks will apply to the English writers upon politics in general, from Sydney and Locke to the author of the Rights of Man. The more comprehensive view has been perspicuously treated by Rousseau and Helvetius.

BOOK I. reasoners have been inclined to suspect. It may fairly be questioned, whether government be not still more considerable in its incidental effects, than in those intended to be produced. Vice, for example, depends for its existence upon the existence of temptation. May not a good government strongly tend to extirpate, and a bad one to increase the mass of temptation? Again, vice depends for its existence upon the existence of error. May not a good government by taking away all restraints upon the enquiring mind haften, and a bad one by its patronage of error. procrastinate the discovery and establishment of truth? Let us consider the subject in this point of view. If it can be provedthat the science of politics is thus unlimited in its importance, the advocates of liberty will have gained an additional recommendation, and its admirers will be incited with the greater. eagerness to the investigation of its principles.

HISTORY OF POLITICAL SOCIETY.

FREQUENCY OF WAR-AMONG THE . ANCIENTS-AMONG: THE MODERNS-THE FRENCH-THE ENGLISH.-CAUSES OF WAR.-PENAL LAWS.-DESPOTISM.-DEDUCTION.-ENUMERATION OF ARGUMENTS.

TYTHILE we enquire whether government is capable of BOOK I. improvement, we shall do well to consider its present effects. It is an old observation, that the history of mankind war: is little else than the history of crimes. War has hitherto been confidered as the inseparable ally of political institution. The among the earliest records of time are the annals of conquerors and heroes, a Bacchus, a Sefostris, a Semiramis and a Cyrus. These princes led millions of men under their standard, and ravaged innumerable provinces. A fmall number only of their forces ever returned to their native homes, the rest having perished of difeases, hardships and misery. The evils they inslicted, and the mortality introduced in the countries against which their expeditions were directed, were certainly not less severe than those which their countrymen suffered. No sooner does history become more precise, than we are presented with the four great monarchies, that is, with four successful projects, by means of bloodfhed.

BOOK I. bloodshed, violence and murder, of enslaving mankind. The expeditions of Cambyses against Egypt, of Darius against the Scythians, and of Xerxes against the Greeks, seem almost to set credibility at defiance by the fatal consequences with which they were attended. The conquests of Alexander cost innumerable lives, and the immortality of Casar is computed to have been purchased by the death of one million two hundred thousand men. Indeed the Romans, by the long duration of their wars, and their inflexible adherence to their purpose, are to be ranked among the foremost destroyers of the human species. Their wars in Italy endured for more than four hundred years, and their contest for supremacy with the Carthaginians two hundred. The Mithridatic war began with a massacre of one hundred and fifty thousand Romans, and in three single actions of the war five hundred thousand men were lost by the eastern monarch. Sylla, his ferocious conqueror, next turned his arms against his country, and the struggle between him and Marius was attended with proscriptions, butcheries and murders that knew no restraint from mercy and humanity. The Romans, at length, fuffered the penalty of their iniquitous deeds; and the world was vexed for three hundred years by the irruptions of Goths, Vandals, Ostrogoths, Huns, and innumerable hordes of barbarians.

I forbear to detail the victorious progress of Mahomet and the pious expeditions of Charlemagne. I will not enumerate the crusades against the insidels, the exploits of Aurungzebe, Gen-

Gengiskan and Tamerlane, or the extensive murders of the BOOK I. CHAP. II Spaniards in the new world. Let us examine the civilized and favoured quarter of Europe, or even those countries of Europe which are thought most enlightened.

France was wasted by successive battles during a whole cen- the French : tury, for the question of the Salic law, and the claim of the Plantagenets. Scarcely was this contest terminated, before the religious wars broke out, fome idea of which we may form from the fiege of Rochelle, where of fifteen thousand persons shut up. eleven thousand perished of hunger and misery; and from the massacre of Saint Bartholomew, in which the numbers assassinated were forty thousand. This quarrel was appealed by Henry the fourth, and succeeded by the thirty years war in Germany for fuperiority with the house of Austria, and afterwards by the military transactions of Louis the fourteenth.

In England the war of Creffy and Agincourt only gave place the English to the civil war of York and Lancaster, and again after an interval to the war of Charles the first and his parliament. No fooner was the constitution fettled by the revolution, than we were engaged in a wide field of continental warfare by king William, the duke of Marlborough, Maria Therefa and the king of Prussia.

And what are in most cases the pretexts upon which war is Causes of

undertaken? What rational man could possibly have given himself the least disturbance for the sake of choosing whether Henry the fixth or Edward the fourth should have the style of king of England? What Englishman could reasonably have drawn his fword for the purpose of rendering his country an inferior dependency of France, as it must necessarily have been if the ambition of the Plantagenets had succeeded? What can be more deplorable than to see us first engage eight years in war rather than fuffer the haughty Maria Therefa to live with a diminished fovereignty or in a private station; and then eight years more to support the free-booter who had taken advantage of her helpless condition?

The usual causes of war are excellently described by Swift. " Sometimes the quarrel between two princes is to decide which of them shall dispossess a third of his dominions, where neither of them pretends to any right. Sometimes one prince quarrels with another, for fear the other should quarrel with him. Sometimes a war is entered upon because the enemy is too strong; and sometimes because he is too weak. Sometimes our neighbours want the things which we have, or have the things which we want; and we both fight, till they take ours, or give us theirs. It is a very justifiable cause of war to invade a country after the people have been wasted by famine, destroyed by peftilence, or embroiled by factions among themselves. It is justifiable to enter into a war against our nearest ally, when one of Justowns lies convenient for us, or a territory of land, that would

would render our dominions round and compact. If a prince BOOK I. fends forces into a nation where the people are poor and ignorant, he may lawfully put the half of them to death, and make flaves of the rest, in order to civilize and reduce them from their barbarous way of living. It is a very kingly, honourable and frequent practice, when one prince delires the assistance of another to fecure him against an invasion, that the assistant, when he has driven out the invader, should seize on the dominions himself, and kill, imprison or banish the prince he came to relieve *."

POLITICAL SOCIETY.

If we turn from the foreign transactions of states with each Penal laws. other, to the principles of their domestic policy, we shall not find much greater reason to be satisfied. A numerous class of mankind are held down in a state of abject penury, and are continually prompted by disappointment and distress to commit violence upon their more fortunate neighbours. The only mode which is employed to repress this violence, and to maintain the order and peace of fociety, is punishment. Whips, axes and gibbets, dungeons, chains and racks are the most approved and established methods of persuading men to obedience, and impressing upon their minds the lessons of reason. Hundreds of victims are annually facrificed at the shrine of positive law and political institution.

* Gulliver's Travels, Part IV. Ch. v.

BOOK I. CHAP. II.

10

Add to this the species of government which prevails over nine tenths of the globe, which is despotism: a government, as Mr. Locke justly observes, altogether "vile and miserable," and "more to be deprecated than anarchy itself *."

Deduction.

This account of the history and state of man is not a declamation, but an appeal to facts. He that considers it cannot possibly regard political disquisition as a trifle, and government as a neutral and unimportant concern. I by no means call upon the reader implicitly to admit that these evils are capable of remedy, and that wars, executions and despotism can be extirpated out of the world. But I'call upon him to consider whether they may be remedied. I would have him feel that civil policy is a topic upon which the feverest investigation may laudably be employed.

If government be a subject, which, like mathematics, natural

* Locke on Government, Book I. Ch. i. §. 1; and Book II. Ch. vii. §. 91. The words in the last place are: "Wherever any two men are, who have no standing rule and common judge to appeal to on earth for the determination of controversies of right betwixt them, there they are still in the flate of nature, and under all the inconveniences of it, with only this woeful difference to the fubject, &c."

Most of the above arguments may be found much more at large in Burke's Vindication of Natural Society; a treatife, in which the evils of the existing political institutions are displayed with incomparable force of reasoning and lustre of eloquence, while the intention of the author was to shew that these evils were to be confidered as trivial.

philosophy and morals, admits of argument and demonstration, then may we reasonably hope that men shall some time or other agree respecting it. If it comprehend every thing that is most important and interesting to man, it is probable that, when the theory is greatly advanced, the practice will not be wholly neglected. Men may one day feel that they are partakers of a common nature, and that true freedom and perfect equity, like food and air, are pregnant with benefit to every constitution. If there be the faintest hope that this shall be the final result, then certainly no subject can inspire to a found mind such generous enthusiasm, such enlightened ardour and such invincible perseverance.

The probability of this improvement will be fufficiently esta- Enumeration blished, if we consider, FIRST, that the moral characters of men are the refult of their perceptions: and, SECONDLY, that of all the modes of operating upon mind government is the most confiderable. In addition to these arguments it will be found, THIRDLY, that the good and ill effects of political inflitution. are not less conspicuous in detail than in principle; and, FOURTHLY, that perfectibility is one of the most unequivocal characteristics of the human species, so that the political, as well as the intellectual state of man, may be presumed to be in a course of progressive improvement.

CHAP. III.

THE MORAL CHARACTERS OF MEN ORIGINATE IN THEIR PERCEPTIONS:

NO INNATE PRINCIPLES.—OBJECTIONS TO THIS ASSERTION
—FROM THE EARLY ACTIONS OF INFANTS—FROM THE

DESIRE OF SELF-PRESERVATION—FROM SELF-LOVE—

FROM PITY—FROM THE VICES OF CHILDREN—TYRANNY
—SULLENNESS.—CONCLUSION.

BOOK I. CHAP. III No innate principles. E bring into the world with us no innate principles: consequently we are neither virtuous nor vicious as we first come into existence. No truth can be more evident than this, to any man who will yield the subject an impartial consideration. Every principle is a proposition. Every proposition consists in the connection of at least two distinct ideas, which are affirmed to agree or disagree with each other. If therefore the principles be innate, the ideas must be so too. But nothing can be more incontrovertible, than that we do not bring pre-established ideas into the world with us.

Let the innate principle be, that virtue is a rule to which we are obliged to conform. Here are three great and leading ideas, not to mention subordinate ones, which it is necessary to form, before we can so much as understand the proposition.

The

What is virtue? Previously to our forming an idea corresponding to this general term, it seems necessary that we should have observed the several features by which virtue is distinguished, and the several subordinate articles of right conduct, that taken together, constitute that mass of practical judgments to which we give the denomination of virtue. Virtue may perhaps be defined, that species of operations of an intelligent being, which conduces to the benefit of intelligent beings in general, and is produced by a desire of that benefit. But taking for granted the universal admission of this definition, and this is no very defensible assumption, how widely have people of different ages and countries disagreed in the application of this general conception to particulars? a disagreement by no means compatible with the supposition that the sentiment is itself innate.

The next innate idea included in the above proposition, is that of a rule or standard, a generical measure with which individuals are to be compared, and their conformity or disagreement with which is to determine their value.

Lastly, there is the idea of obligation, its nature and source, the obliger and the sanction, the penalty and the reward.

Who is there in the present state of scientifical improvement, that will believe that this vast chain of perceptions and notions is something

fomething that we bring into the world with us, a mystical magazine, thut up in the human embryo, whose treasures are to be gradually unfolded as circumstances shall require? Who does not perceive that they are regularly generated in the mind by a feries of impressions, and digested and arranged by association and reflexion?

Experience has by many been supposed adverse to these reafrom the early forings: but it will upon examination be found to be perfectly in harmony with them. The child at the moment of his birth is totally unprovided with ideas, except such as his mode of existence in the womb may have supplied. His first impressions are those of pleasure and pain. But he has no forelight of the tendency of any action to obtain either the one or the other, previously to experience.

> A certain irritation of the palm of the hand will produce that contraction of the fingers, which accompanies the action of grafping. This contraction will at first be unaccompanied with design, the object will be grasped without any intention to retain it, and let go again without thought or observation. After a certain number of repetitions, the nature of the action will be perceived; it will be performed with a consciousness of its tendency; and even the hand stretched out upon the approach of any object that is defired. Present to the child, thus far instructed, a lighted candle, The fight of it will produce a pleasurable state of the organs of perception.

ORIGINATE IN THEIR PERCEPTIONS.

perception. He will stretch out his hand to the slame, and will BOOK I. CHAP. III have no apprehension of the pain of burning till he has felt the fensation.

At the age of maturity, the eyelids instantaneously close, when any fubstance, from which danger is apprehended, is advanced towards them; and this action is fo spontaneous, as to be with great difficulty prevented by a grown person, though he should explicitly defire it. In infants there is no fuch propenfity; and an object may be approached to their organs, however near and however fuddenly, without producing this effect. Frowns will be totally indifferent to a child, who has never found them affo ciated with the effects of anger. Fear itself is a species of forefight; and in no case exists till introduced by experience.

It has been faid, that the defire of felf-preservation is innate. I from the defire of felfdemand what is meant by this defire? Must we not understand preservation: by it, a preference of existence to non-existence? Do we prefer any thing but because it is apprehended to be good? It follows, that we cannot prefer existence, previously to our experience of the motives for preference it possesses. Indeed the ideas of life and death are exceedingly complicated, and very tardy in their formation. A child defires pleasure and loathes pain, long before he can have any imagination respecting the ceasing to exist.

Again, it has been faid, that felf-love is innate. But there fromfelf-love: cannot be an error more easy of detection. By the love of felf

felf we understand the approbation of pleasure, and dislike of pain: but this is only the faculty of perception under another name. Who ever denied that man was a percipient being? Who ever dreamed that there was a particular instinct necessary to render him percipient?

Pity has sometimes been supposed an instance of innate principle; particularly as it feems to arise more instantaneously in young persons, and persons of little refinement, than in others. But it was reasonable to expect, that threats and anger, circumstances that have been associated with our own sufferings, should excite painful feelings in us in the case of others, independently of any laboured analysis. The cries of distress, the appearance of agony or corporal infliction, irreliftibly revive the memory of the pains accompanied by those fymptoms in ourselves. Longer experience and observation enable us to separate the calamities of others and our own fafety, the existence of pain in one subject and of pleasure or benefit in others, or in the same at a suture period, more accurately than we could be expected to do previously to that experience.

Such then is univerfally the subject of human institution and education. We bring neither virtue nor vice with us at our entrance into the world. But the feeds of error are ordinarily fown so early as to pass with superficial observers for innate.

ORIGINATE IN THEIR PERCEPTIONS.

Our constitution prompts us to utter a cry at the unexpected fensation of pain. Infants early perceive the assistance they tyranny: obtain from the volition of others; and they have at first no means of inviting that affiftance but by an inarticulate cry. In this neutral and innocent circumstance, combined with the folly and imbecility of parents and nurses, we are presented with the first occasion of vice. Assistance is necessary, conducive to the existence, the health and the mental fanity of the infant. Empire in the infant over those who protect him is unnecessary. If we do not withhold our affiltance precifely at the moment when it ceases to be requisite, if our compliance or our refusal be not in every case irrevocable, if we grant any thing to impatience, importunity or obstinacy, from that moment we become parties in the intellectual murder of our offspring.

In this case we instil into them the vices of a tyrant; but we sullenness. are in equal danger of teaching them the vices of a flave. It is not till very late that mankind acquire the ideas of justice, retribution and morality, and these notions are far from existing in the minds of infants. Of consequence, when we strike, or when we rebuke them, we risk at least the exciting in them a sense of injury, and a feeling of refentment. Above all, fentiments of this fort cannot fail to be awakened, if our action be accompanied with fymptoms of anger, cruelty, harshness or caprice. The fame imbecility, that led us to inspire them with a spirit of tyranny by yielding to their importunities, afterwards dictates to

us an inconfistent and capricious conduct, at one time denying them as abfurdly, as at another we gratified them unreasonably. Who, that has observed the consequences of this treatment, how generally these mistakes are committed, how inseparable they are in some degree from the wisest and the best, will be surprised at the early indications of depravity in children *?

. From these reasonings it sufficiently appears, that the moral qualities of men are the produce of the impressions made upon them, and that there is no instance of an original propensity to evil. Our virtues and vices may be traced to the incidents which make the history of our lives; and if these incidents could be divested? of every improper tendency, vice would be extirpated from the world. The task may be difficult, may be of slow progress, and of hope undefined and uncertain. But hope will never desert it; and the man who is anxious for the benefit of his species, will willingly devote a portion of his activity to an enquiry into the mode of effecting this extirpation in whole or in part, an enquiry which promifes much, if it do not in reality promife every thing.

CHAP. IV.

THREE PRINCIPAL CAUSES OF MORAL IMPROVE MENT CONSIDERED.

I. LITERATURE.

BENEFITS OF LITERATURE. - EXAMPLES. - ESSENTIAL PRO-PERTIES OF LITERATURE. -- ITS DEFECTS.

II. EDUCATION.

BENEFITS OF EDUCATION .- CAUSES OF ITS IMBECILITY.

HI. POLITICAL JUSTICE.

BENEFITS OF POLITICAL INSTITUTION .- UNIVERSALITY OF ITS INFLUENCE—PROVED BY THE MISTAKES OF SOCIETY. -ORIGIN OF EVIL.

HERE are three principal causes by which the human BOOKI. mind is advanced towards a state of perfection; literature, or the diffusion of knowledge through the medium of discussion, whether written or oral; education, or a scheme for the early impression of right principles upon the hitherto unprejudiced mind; and political justice, or the adoption of any principle of morality and truth into the practice of a community. Let us take a momentary review of each of these.

CHAP.

I. LITER 1-

^{*} The arguments of this chapter are for the most part an abstract, the direct ones from Locke on the Human Understanding, those which relate to experience from Hartley's Observations on Man, and those respecting education from the Emile of J. J. Rousscau.

I. LITERATURE.

BOOK I. CHAP. IV Benefits of

FEW engines can be more powerful, and at the same time more falutary in their tendency, than literature. Without enquiring for the present into the cause of this phenomenon, it is sufficiently evident in fact, that the human mind is strongly infected with prejudice and mistake. The various opinions prevailing in different countries and among different classes of men upon the same subject, are almost innumerable; and yet of all these opinions only one can be true. Now the effectual way for extirpating these prejudices and mistakes seems to be literature.

Literature has reconciled the whole thinking world respecting the great principles of the fystem of the universe, and extirpated upon this subject the dreams of romance and the dogmas of fuperstition. Literature has unfolded the nature of the human mind, and Locke and others have established certain maxims respecting man, as Newton has done respecting matter, that are generally admitted for unquestionable. Discussion has ascertained with tolerable perspicuity the preserence of liberty over flavery; and the Mainwarings, the Sibthorpes, and the Filmers, the race of speculative reasoners in favour of despotism, are almost extinct. Local prejudice had introduced innumerable privileges and prohibitions upon the subject of trade; speculation has nearly ascertained that perfect freedom is most favourable to her prosperity. If in many instances the collation of BOOK I. evidence have failed to produce universal conviction, it must however be considered, that it has not failed to produce irrefragable argument, and that falshood would have been much shorter in duration, if it had not been protected and inforced by the authority of political government.

Indeed, if there be fuch a thing as truth, it must infallibly Essential properties of libe struck out by the collision of mind with mind. The restless terature. activity of intellect will for a time be fertile in paradox and error; but these will be only diurnals, while the truths that occafionally fpring up, like flurdy plants, will defy the rigour of feason and climate. In proportion as one reasoner compares his deductions with those of another, the weak places of his argument will be detected, the principles he too hastily adopted will be overthrown, and the judgments, in which his mind was exposed to no finister influence, will be confirmed. All that is requifite in these discussions is unlimited speculation, and a fufficient variety of fystems and opinions. While we only difpute about the best way of doing a thing in itself wrong, we shall indeed make but a trifling progress; but, when we are once perfuaded that nothing is too facred to be brought to the touchstone of examination, science will advance with rapid strides. Men, who turn their attention to the boundless field of enquiry, and still more who recollect the innumerable errors and caprices of mind, are apt to imagine that the labour is without benefit

BOOK I.

and endless. But this cannot be the case, if truth at last have any real existence. Errors will, during the whole period of their reign, combat each other; prejudices that have passed unsuspected for ages, will have their era of detection; but, if in any science we discover one solitary truth, it cannot be overthrown

Its de ects:

Such are the arguments that may be adduced in favour of literature. But, even should we admit them in their full force, and at the same time suppose that truth is the omnipotent artificer by which mind can infallibly be regulated, it would yet by no means sufficiently follow that literature is alone adequate to all the purposes of human improvement. Literature, and particularly that literature by which prejudice is superfeded, and the mind is strung to a firmer tone, exists only as the portion of a few. The multitude, at least in the present state of human fociety, cannot partake of its illuminations. For that purpose it would be necessary, that the general system of policy should become favourable, that every individual should have leisure for reasoning and reflection, and that there should be no species of public institution, which, having falshood for its basis, should counteract their progress. This state of society, if it did not precede the general differination of truth, would at least be the immediate result of it.

But in representing this state of society as the ultimate result,

we should incur an obvious fallacy. The discovery of truth is BOOK I. CHAP. IV.

MORAL IMPROVEMENT CONSIDERED.

a pursuit of such vast extent, that it is scarcely possible to prefcribe bounds to it. Those great lines, which feem at present

that rise from a lake, retire farther and farther the more closely we approach them. A certain quantity of truth will be suffi-

to mark the limits of human understanding, will, like the mists

cient for the subversion of tyranny and usurpation; and this fubversion, by a reflected force, will assist our understandings

in the discovery of truth. In the mean time, it is not easy to

define the exact portion of discovery that must necessarily precede political melioration. The period of partiality and injuffice:

will be shortened, in proportion as political rectitude occupies.

a principal share in our disquisition. When the most consider-

able part of a nation, either for numbers or influence, becomes

convinced of the flagrant absurdity of its institutions, the whole

will foon be prepared tranquilly and by a fort of common con-

fent to supersede them...

II. EDUCATION.

Bur, if it appear that literature, unaided by the regularity Benefis of of institution and discipline, is inadequate to the reformation of the species, it may perhaps be imagined, that education, commonly fo called, is the best of all subsidiaries for making up its defects. Education may have the advantage of taking mind: in its original state, a soil prepared for culture, and as yet unin-

fested:

BOOK I. fested with weeds; and it is a common and a reasonable opinion, that the task is much easier to plant right and virtuous dispositions in an unprejudiced understanding, than to root up the errors that have already become as it were a part of ourleives. If an erroneous and vicious education be, as it has been shewn to be, the source of all our depravity, an education, deprived of these errors, seems to present itself as the most natural exchange, and must necessarily render its subject virtuous and pure.

> I will imagine the pupil never to have been made the victim of tyranny or the flave of caprice. He has never been permitted to triumph in the fuccess of importunity, and cannot therefore well have become restless, inconstant, fantastical or unjust. He has been inured to ideas of equality and independence, and therefore is not passionate, haughty and overbearing. The perpetual witness of a temperate conduct and reasonable sentiments, he is not blinded with prejudice, is not liable to make a false estimate of things, and of consequence has no immoderate desires after wealth, and splendour, and the gratifications of luxury. Virtue has always been presented to him under the most attractive form, as the surest medium of success in every honourable pursuit, the never-failing confolation of difappointment, and infinitely superior in value to every other acquisition.

It cannot be doubted that fuch an education is calculated to BOOK I. CHAP. IV produce very considerable effects. In the world indeed the Causes of its pupil will become the spectator of scenes very different from

what his preconceived ideas of virtue might have taught him to expect. Let us however admit it to be possible so to temper the mind, as to render it proof against the influence of example and the allurements of luxury. Still it may be reasonable to

we expect to find, in which a plan has been carried into execution, fo enlightened, unremitted and ardent, as to produce these extraordinary effects? Where must the preceptor himself

doubt of the fufficiency of education. How many instances may

OF MORAL IMPROVEMENT CONSIDERED.

have been educated, who shall thus elevate his pupil above all

the errors of mankind? If the world teach an implicit deference

to birth and riches and accidental distinctions, he will scarcely

be exempt from this deference. If the world be full of intrigue and rivalship and selfishness, he will not be wholly disinterested.

If falshood be with mankind at large reduced to a system, re-

commended by the prudent, commanded by the magistrate, inforced by the moralist*, and practifed under a thousand forms,

* The following passage is extracted from Lord Kaimes, late one of the judges of the kingdom of Scotland.

[&]quot;Custom-house oaths now a-days go for nothing. Not that the world grows more wicked, but because nobody lays any stress upon them. The duty on French wine is the fame in Scotland and in England. But as we cannot afford to pay this high duty, the permission underhand to pay Spanish duty for

the individual will not always have the fimplicity to be fincere,. or the courage to be true. If prejudice have usurped the seat of knowledge, if law and religion and metaphysics and government be furrounded with mystery and artisice, he will not know the truth, and therefore cannot teach it; he will not posless the criterion, and therefore cannot furnish it to another. Again; if a man thus mighty, thus accomplished, thus superior to rivalship. and comparison, can be found, who will consent to the profanation of employing him in cultivating the mind of a boy, when: he should be instructing the world?

Education, in the fense in which it has commonly been understood, though in one view an engine of unlimited power, is:

French wine, is found more beneficial to the revenue than the rigour of the law-The oath however must be taken that the wine we import is Spanish, to entitle: us to the ease of the Spanish duty. Such oaths at first were highly criminal, because directly a fraud against the public; but now that the oath is only exacted for form's fake, without any faith intended to be given or received, it. becomes very little different from faying in the way of civility, 'I am, fir, your friend, or your obedient fervant."-Loofe Hints upon Education, Appendix, p. 362. Edinburgh, 1781.

Archdeacon Paley in a work, the feventh edition of which lies before me, and which is used as a text book in the university of Cambridge, speaks thus:

"There are falshoods which are not lies; that is, which are not criminal; as-a fervant's denying his master, a prisoner's pleading not guilty, an advocate afferting the justice, or his belief of the justice of his elient's cause. In such instances no considence is destroyed, because none was reposed." Principles of Moral and Political Philosophy, Book IH. Part I. Chap. xv. London, 1790.

exceed-

exceedingly incompetent to the great buliness of reforming BOOK I. CHAP. IV. mankind. It performs its talk weakly and in detail. The grand principles that the inventor feeks in his machines, and the philosopher in investigating the system of the universe, are such, as from a few simple data are sufficient to the production of a thousand events. But the education I have been describing is the reverse of this. It employs an immense combination of powers, and an endless chain of causes for the production of a fingle specimen. No task, which is not in its own nature impracticable, can easily be supposed more difficult, than that of counteracting universal error, and arming the youthful mind against the contagion of general example. The strongest mind that proposed this as its object, would scarcely undertake the forming more than one, or at most a very small number, of pupils. Where can a remedy be found for this fundamental disadvantage? where but in political justice, that all comprehenfive scheme, that immediately applies to the removal of counteraction and contagion, that embraces millions in its grasp, and that educates in one school the preceptor and the pupil?

III. POLITICAL JUSTICE.

THE benefits of political justice will best be understood, if Benefits of we consider society in the most comprehensive view, taking tice, unto our estimate the erroneous institutions by which the human mind has been too often checked in its career, as well as those

BOOK I.

well founded opinions of public and individual interest, which perhaps need only to be clearly explained, in order to their being generally received.

Universality
of its influ-

Now in whatever light it be confidered, we cannot avoid perceiving, first, that political institution is peculiarly strong in that very point in which the efficacy of education was deficient, the extent of its operation. That it in some way influences our conduct will hardly be disputed. It is sufficiently obvious that a despotic government is calculated to render men pliant, and a free one resolute and independent. All the effects that any principle adopted into the practice of a community may produce, it produces upon a comprehensive scale. It creates a fimilar bias in the whole, or a confiderable part of the fociety. The motive it exhibits, the stimulus it begets, are operative, because they are fitted to produce effect upon mind. They will therefore inevitably influence all to whom they are equally addressed. Virtue, where virtue is the result, will cease to be a talk of perpetual watchfulness and contention. It will neither be, nor appear to be, a facrifice of our personal advantage to difinterested considerations. It will render those the confederates, fupport and fecurity of our rectitude, who were before its most formidable enemies.

proved by the milakes of fociety. Again, an additional argument in favour of the efficacy of political institutions, arises from the extensive influence which certain

certain false principles, engendered by an impersect system of BOOK I. CHAP. IV. fociety, have been found to exert. Superstition, an immoderate fear of shame, a false calculation of interest, are errors that have been always attended with the most extensive consequences. How incredible at the present day do the effects of superstition exhibited in the middle ages, the horrors of excommunication and interdict, and the humiliation of the greatest monarchs at the feet of the pope, appear? What can be more contrary to European modes than that dread of difgrace, which induces the Bramin widows of Indostan to destroy themselves upon the funeral pile of their husbands? What more horribly immoral than the mistaken idea which leads multitudes in commercial countries to regard fraud, falshood and circumvention as the truest policy? But, however powerful these errors may be, the empire of truth, if once established, would be incomparably greater. The man, who is enflaved by shame, superstition or deceit, will be perpetually exposed to an internal war of opinions, disapproving by an involuntary censure the conduct he has been most persuaded to adopt. No mind can be so far alienated from truth, as not in the midst of its degeneracy to have incessant returns of a better principle. No system of society can be fo thoroughly pervaded with mistake, as not frequently to fuggest to us sentiments of virtue, liberty and justice. But truth is in all its branches harmonious and confistent.

The

BOOK I.

The recollection of this circumstance induces me to add as a concluding observation, that it may reasonably be doubted whether error could ever be formidable or long-lived, if government did not lend it support. The nature of mind is adapted to the perception of ideas, their correspondence and difference. In the right discernment of these is its true element and most congenial pursuit. Error would indeed for a time have been the refult of our partial perceptions; but, as our perceptions are continually changing, and continually becoming more definite and correct, our errors would have been momentary, and our judgments have hourly approached nearer to the truth. The doctrine of transubstantiation, the belief that men were really eating flesh when they seemed to be eating bread, and drinking human blood when they feemed to be drinking wine, could never have maintained its empire so long, if it had not been reinforced by civil authority. Men would not have fo long perfuaded themselves that an old man elected by the intrigues of a conclave of cardinals, from the moment of that election became immaculate and infallible, if the persuasion had not been maintained by revenues, endowments and palaces. A fystem of government, that should lend no sanction to ideas of fanaticism and hypocrify, would presently accustom its subjects to think justly upon topics of moral worth and importance. A state, that should abstain from imposing contradictory and impracticable oaths, and thus perpetually stimulating its members

to concealment and perjury, would foon become distinguished for plain dealing and veracity. A country, in which places of dignity and confidence should cease to be at the disposal of faction, favour and interest, would not long be the residence of fervility and deceit.

These remarks suggest to us the true answer to an obvious Origin of objection, that might otherwise present itself, to the conclusion to which these principles appear to lead. It might be said, that an erroneous government can never afford an adequate folution. for the existence of moral evil, since government was itself the: production of human intelligence, and therefore, if ill, must have been indebted for its ill qualities to some wrong which had previous existence.

The proposition afferted in this objection is undoubtedly true. All vice is nothing more than error and mistake reduced intopractice, and adopted as the principle of our conduct. But error is perpetually hastening to its own detection. Vicious conduct: is foon discovered to involve injurious consequences. Injustice therefore by its own nature is little fitted for a durable existence. But government "lays its hand upon the fpring there is: in fociety, and puts a stop to its motion *." It gives substance and permanence to our errors. It reverses the genuine propensities

* Logan, Philosophy of History, p. 69.

BOOK I. of mind, and, instead of suffering us to look forward, teaches us CHAP. IV. to look backward for perfection. It prompts us to feek the public welfare, not in innovation and improvement, but in a timid reverence for the decisions of our ancestors, as if it were the nature of mind always to degenerate, and never to advance.

CHAP. V.

INFLUENCE OF POLITICAL INSTITUTIONS , EXEMPLIFIED.

ROBBERY AND FRAUD, TWO GREAT VICES IN SOCIETY-ORIGINATE, I. IN EXTREME POVERTY-2. IN THE OS-TENTATION OF THE RICH-3. IN THEIR TYRANNY-RENDERED PERMANENT-I. BY LEGISLATION-2. BY THE ADMINISTRATION OF LAW-3. BY THE INEQUA-LITY OF CONDITION.

HE efficacy of political institutions will be rendered still BOOK I. CHAP. V. more evident, if we enquire into the history of the most confiderable vices at prefent existing in society; and if it can be shewn that they derive their inveteracy from political institution.

Two of the greatest abuses relative to the interior policy of Robbery and nations, which at this time prevail in the world, will be allowed great vices in to confift in the irregular transfer of property, either first by violence, or fecondly by fraud. If among the inhabitants of any country there existed no desire in one individual to possess himself of the substance of another, or no desire so vehement and restless, as to prompt him to acquire it by means inconsistent with order and justice; undoubtedly in that country guilt could

CHAP.

34

hardly be known but by report. If every man could with perfect facility obtain the necessaries of life, and, obtaining them, feel no uneafy craving after its superfluities, temptation would lose its power. Private interest would visibly accord with public good; and civil fociety become all that poetry has feigned of the golden age. Let us enquire into the principles to which these evils owe their existence, and the treatment by which they may be alleviated or remedied.

originate, 1.

First then it is to be observed, that, in the most refined states of Europe, the inequality of property has arisen to an alarming height. Vast numbers of their inhabitants are deprived of almost every accommodation that can render life tolerable or fecure. Their utmost industry scarcely suffices for their support. The women and children lean with an insupportable weight upon the efforts of the man, so that a large family has in the lower order of life become a proverbial expression for an uncommon degree of poverty and wretchedness. If sickness or some of those casualties which are perpetually incident to an active and laborious life, be superadded to these burthens, the distress is yet greater.

It seems to be agreed that in England there is less wretchedness and distress than in most of the kingdoms of the continent. In England the poors' rates amount to the fum of two millions sterling per annum. It has been calculated that one person in feven of the inhabitants of this country derives at some period of his life assistance from this fund. If to this we add the persons, who, from pride, a spirit of independence, or the want of a legal fettlement, though in equal diffress, receive no fuch affistance, the proportion will be confiderably increased.

I lay no stress upon the accuracy of this calculation; the general fact is sufficient to give us an idea of the greatness of the abuse. The consequences that result are placed beyond the reach of contradiction. A perpetual struggle with the evils of poverty, if frequently ineffectual, must necessarily render many of the sufferers desperate. A painful feeling of their oppressed fituation will itself deprive them of the power of furmounting it. The superiority of the rich, being thus unmercifully exercifed, must inevitably expose them to reprisals; and the poor man will be induced to regard the state of society as a state of war, an unjust combination, not for protecting every man in his rights and securing to him the means of existence, but for engroffing all its advantages to a few favoured individuals, and referving for the portion of the rest want, dependence and mi-

A fecond source of those destructive passions by which the 2. in the of peace of fociety is interrupted, is to be found in the luxury, the the rich: pageantry and magnificence with which enormous wealth is usually accompanied. Human beings are capable of encoun-

BOOK I. CHAP. V. tering with chearfulness considerable hardships, when those hardships are impartially shared with the rest of the society, and they are not insulted with the spectacle of indolence and ease in others, no way deferving of greater advantages than themselves. But it is a bitter aggravation of their own calamity, to have the privileges of others forced on their observation, and, while they are perpetually and vainly endeavouring to fecure for themselves and their families the poorest conveniences, to find others revelling in the fruits of their labours. This aggravation is affiduously administered to them under most of the political establishments at present in existence. There is a numerous class: of individuals, who, though rich, have neither brilliant talents nor fublime virtues; and, however highly they may prize their education, their affability, their superior polish and the elegance of their manners, have a fecret consciousness that they possess. nothing by which they can fo fecurely affert their pre-eminence and keep their inferiors at a distance, as the splendour of their equipage, the magnificence of their retinue and the fumptuousness of their entertainments. The poor man is struck with this exhibition; he feels his own miseries; he knows how unwearied are his efforts to obtain a flender pittance of this prodigal waste; and he mistakes opulence for felicity. He cannot perfuade himself that an embroidered garment may frequently cover an aching heart.

3. in their tyranny:

A third disadvantage that is apt to connect poverty with discontent

discontent consists in the insolence and usurpation of the rich. If the poor man would in other respects compose himself in philosophic indifference, and, conscious that he possesses every thing that is truly honourable to man as fully as his rich neighbour, would look upon the rest as beneath his envy, his neighbour will not permit him to do fo. He feems as if he could never be fatisfied with his possessions unless he can make the fpectacle of them grating to others; and that honest felf-esteem, by which his inferior might otherwise arrive at apathy, is rendered the inftrument of galling him with oppression and injustice. In many countries justice is avowedly made a subject of folicitation, and the man of the highest rank and most splendid connections almost infallibly carries his cause against the unprotected and friendless. In countries where this shameless practice is not established, justice is frequently a matter of expenfive purchase, and the man with the longest purse is proverbially victorious. A consciousness of these facts must be expected to render the rich little cautious of offence in his dealings with the poor, and to inspire him with a temper overbearing, dictatorial and tyrannical. Nor does this indirect oppression satisfy his despotism. The rich are in all such countries directly or indirectly the legislators of the state; and of consequence are perpetually reducing oppression into a system, and depriving the poor of that little commonage of nature as it were, which might otherwise still have remained to them.

The

BOOK 1. CHAP. V.

38

The opinions of individuals, and of consequence their desires, for desire is nothing but opinion maturing for action, will always be in a great degree regulated by the opinions of the community. But the manners prevailing in many countries are accurately calculated to impress a conviction, that integrity, virtue, understanding and industry are nothing, and that opulence is every thing. Does a man, whose exterior denotes indigence, expect to be well received in fociety, and especially by those who would be understood to dictate to the rest? Does he find or imagine himself in want of their assistance and favour? He is presently taught that no merits can atone for a mean appearance. The lesson that is read to him is, Go home, enrich yourself by whatever means, obtain those superfluities which are alone regarded as estimable, and you may then be fecure of an amicable reception. Accordingly poverty in fuch countries is viewed as the greatest of demerits. It is escaped from with an eagerness that has no leisure for the scruples of honesty. It is concealed as the most indelible disgrace. While one man chooses the path of undistinguishing accumulation, another plunges into expences which are to impose him upon the world as more opulent than he is. He hastens to the reality of that penury, the appearance of which he dreads; and, together with his property, facrifices the integrity, veracity and character which might have confoled him in his adversity.

Such are the causes, that, in different degrees under the different

INSTITUTIONS EXEMPLIFIED.

ferent governments of the world, prompt mankind openly or BOOK I. CHAP. V. fecretly to encroach upon the property of each other. Let us confider how far they admit either of remedy or aggravation from political institution. Whatever tends to decrease the injuries attendant upon poverty, decreases at the same time the inordinate desire and the enormous accumulation of wealth. Wealth is not purfued for its own fake, and feldom for the fenfual gratifications it can purchase, but for the same reasons that ordinarily prompt men to the acquisition of learning, eloquence and skill, for the love of distinction and fear of contempt. How few would prize the possession of riches, if they were condemned to enjoy their equipage, their palaces and their entertainments in folitude, with no eye to wonder at their magnificence, and no fordid observer ready to convert that wonder into an adulation of the owner? If admiration were not generally deemed the exclusive property of the rich, and contempt the constant lacquey of poverty, the love of gain would cease to be an universal passion. Let us consider in what respects political institution is rendered fubfervient to this passion.

First then, legislation is in almost every country grossly the 1. by legisfavourer of the rich against the poor. Such is the character of the game laws, by which the industrious rustic is forbidden to destroy the animal that preys upon the hopes of his future subfistence, or to supply himself with the food that unsought thrusts itself in his path. Such was the spirit of the late revenue laws

of France, which in feveral of their provisions fell exclusively upon the humble and industrious, and exempted from their operation those who were best able to support it. Thus in England the land tax at this moment produces half a million less than it did a century ago, while the taxes on consumption have experienced an addition of thirteen millions per annum during the same period. This is an attempt, whether effectual or no, to throw the burthen from the rich upon the poor, and as fuch is an exhibition of the spirit of legislation. Upon the same principle robbery and other offences, which the wealthier part of the community have no temptation to commit, are treated as capital crimes, and attended with the most rigorous, often the most inhuman punishments. The rich are encouraged to associate for the execution of the most partial and oppressive positive laws. Monopolies and patents are lavishly dispensed to such as are able to purchase them. While the most vigilant policy is employed to prevent combinations of the poor to fix the price of labour, and they are deprived of the benefit of that prudence and judgment which would felect the scene of their industry.

Secondly, the administration of law is not less iniquitous than the spirit in which it is framed. Under the late government of France the office of judge was a matter of purchase, partly by an open price advanced to the crown, and partly by a fecret douceur paid to the minister. He, who knew best how to manage his market in the retail trade of justice, could afford to purchase the good good will of its functions at the highest price. To the client justice was avowedly made an object of personal solicitation, and a powerful friend, a handsome woman, or a proper present, were articles of much greater value than a good cause. In England the criminal law is administered with tolerable impartiality so far as regards the trial itself; but the number of capital offences, and of consequence the frequency of pardons, open even here a wide door to favour and abuse. In causes relating to property the practice of law is arrived at such a pitch as to render all justice ineffectual. The length of our chancery fuits, the multiplied appeals from court to court, the enormous fees of counfel, attornies, fecretaries, clerks, the drawing of briefs, bills, replications and rejoinders, and what has fometimes been called the glorious uncertainty of the law, render it often more advisable to relign a property than to contest it, and particularly exclude the impoverished claimant from the faintest hope of redress. Nothing certainly is more practicable than to fecure to all questions of controverfy a cheap and speedy decision, which, combined with the independence of the judges and a few obvious improvements in the construction of juries, would insure the equitable application of general rules to all characters and stations.

Thirdly, the inequality of conditions usually maintained by 3 by the inpolitical institution, is calculated greatly to enhance the imagined conditions. excellence of wealth. In the ancient monarchies of the east, and in Turkey at the present day, an eminent station could fcarcely

BOOK I. scarcely fail to excite implicit deference. The timid inhabitant trembled before his fuperior; and would have thought it little less than blasphemy, to touch the veil drawn by the proud satrap over his inglorious origin. The same principles were extensively prevalent under the feudal fystem. The vassal, who was regarded as a fort of live stock upon the estate, and knew of no appeal from the arbitrary fiat of his lord, would scarcely venture to suspect that he was of the same species. This however constituted an unnatural and violent situation. There is a propenfity in man to look farther than the outlide; and to come with a writ of enquiry into the title of the upftart and the successful. In England at the present day there are few poor men who do not confole themselves, by the freedom of their animadversions upon their superiors. The new-fangled gentleman is by no means fecure against having his tranquillity disturbed by their surly and pointed farcasms. This propensity might easily be encouraged, and made conducive to the most falutary purposes. Every man might, as was the case in certain countries upon record, be infpired with the consciousness of citizenship, and be made to feel himself an active and efficient member of the great whole. The poor man would then perceive, that, if eclipsed, he could not be trampled upon; and he would no longer be stung with the furies of envy, refentment and despair.

CHAP. VI.

· HUMAN INVENTIONS CAPABLE OF PERPETUAL IMPROVEMENT.

PERFECTIBILITY OF MAN-INSTANCED, FIRST, IN LAN-GUAGE. -- ITS BEGINNINGS. -- ABSTRACTION. -- COMPLEXI-TY OF LANGUAGE. SECOND INSTANCE: ALPHABETICAL WRITING .- HIEROGLYPHICS AT FIRST UNIVERSAL. PROGRESSIVE DEVIATIONS .- APPLICATION.

F we would form to ourselves a solid estimate of political, or BOOK I. indeed of any other science, we ought not to confine our furvey to that narrow portion of things which passes under our of man: own immediate inspection, and rashly pronounce every thing that we have not ourselves seen, to be impossible. There is no characteristic of man, which seems at present at least so eminently to diffinguish him, or to be of so much importance in every branch of moral science, as his perfectibility. Let us carry back our minds to man in his original state, a being capable of impressions and knowledge to an unbounded extent, but not having as yet received the one or cultivated the other; and let us contrast this being with all that science and genius have effected: and from hence we may form fome idea what it is of which hu-

CHAP.

BOOK I. CHAP. VI.

man nature is capable. It is to be remembered, that this being: did not as now derive affiftance from the communications of hisfellows, nor had his feeble and crude conceptions affifted by the experience of successive centuries; but that in the state we are figuring all men were equally ignorant. The field of improvement was before them, but for every step in advance they were to be indebted to their untutored efforts. Nor is it of any confequence whether fuch was actually the progress of mind, or whether, as others teach, the progress was abridged, and man: was immediately advanced half way to the end of his career by the interpolition of the author of his nature. In any case it is an allowable and no unimproving speculation, to consider mindas it is in itself, and to enquire what would have been its history, if, immediately upon its production, it had been left to be acted upon by those ordinary laws of the universe with whose operation we are acquainted.

inflanced, I in language. One of the acquisitions most evidently requisite as a preliminary to our present improvements is that of language. But it is impossible to conceive of an acquisition, that must have been in its origin more different from what at present it is found, or that less promised that copiousness and refinement it has since exhibited.

Its beginning. Its beginning was probably from those involuntary cries, which infants for example are found to utter in the earliest stages

stages of their existence, and which, previously to the idea of BOOK I. exciting pity or procuring assistance, spontaneously arise from the operation of pain upon our animal frame. These cries, when actually uttered, become a fubject of perception to him by whom they are uttered; and; being observed to be constantly associated with certain preliminary impressions and to excite the idea of those impressions in the hearer, may afterwards be repeated from reflection and the defire of relief. Eager defire to communicate any information to another, will also prompt us to utter some fimple found for the purpose of exciting attention: this found will probably frequently recur to organs unpractifed to variety, and will at length stand as it were by convention for the information intended to be conveyed. But the distance is extreme from these simple modes of communication, which we possess in common with some of the inferior animals, to all the analysis and abstraction which languages require.

Abstraction indeed, though as it is commonly understood it Abstraction. be one of the sublimest operations of mind, is in some fort coeval with and inseparable from the existence of mind. The next step to simple perception is that of comparison, or the coupling together of two ideas and the perception of their resemblances and differences. Without comparison there can be no preference, and without preference no action: though it must be acknowledged, that this comparison is an operation that may be performed by the mind without adverting to its nature, and that neither

neither the brute nor the favage has any consciousness of the feveral steps of the intellectual progress. Comparison immediately leads to imperfect abstraction. The fensation of to-day is classed, if fimilar, with the fenfation of yesterday, and an inference is made respecting the conduct to be adopted. Without this degree of abstraction the faint dawnings of language already described could never have existed. Abstraction, which was necessary to the first existence of language, is again assisted in its operations by language. That generalisation, which is implied in the very notion of thought, being thus embodied and rendered palpable, makes the mind acquainted with its own powers and creates a restless desire after farther progress.

in the same of the same of

Complexity of language

But, though it be by no means impossible, to trace the causes that concurred to the production of language, and to prove them adequate to their effect, it does not the less appear that this is an acquisition of slow growth and inestimable value. The very steps, were we to pursue them, would appear like an endless labyrinth. The distance is immeasurable between the three or four vague and inarticulate founds uttered by animals, and the copiousness of lexicography or the regularity of grammar. The general and special names by which things are at first complicated and afterwards divided, the names by which properties are separated from their substances and powers from both, the comprehensive distribution of parts of speech, verbs, adjectives and particles, the inflexions of words by which the change of their terminations changes their meaning through a variety BOOK I. CHAP. VI. of shadings, their concords and their governments, all of them present us with such a boundless catalogue of science, that he, who on the one hand did not know that the boundless task had been actually performed, or who on the other was not intimately acquainted with the progressive nature of mind, would pronounce the accomplishment of them impossible.

and an half state on a reality consi-

A fecond invention, well calculated to impress us with a fense Second inof the progressive nature of man, is that of alphabetical writing. phabetical writing. Hieroglyphical or picture writing appears at some time to have Hieroglybeen universal, and the difficulty of conceiving the gradation universal. from this to alphabetical is fo great, as to have induced Hartley, one of the most acute of all philosophical writers, to have recourse to miraculous interposition as the only adequate solution. In reality no problem can be imagined more operofe, than that of decomposing the sounds of words into four and twenty simple elements or letters, and again finding these elements in all other words. When we have examined the fubject a little more closely, and perceived the steps by which this labour was accomplished, perhaps the immensity of the labour will rather gain upon us, as he that shall have counted a million of units, will have a vaster idea upon the subject, than he that only considers them in the gross.

In China hieroglyphical writing has never been superfeded by Progressive

alphabetical, and this from the very nature of their language, which is confiderably monofyllabic, the same sound being made to fignify a great variety of objects, by means of certain shadings of tone too delicate for any alphabet to be able to represent. They have however two kinds of writing, one for the learned, and another for the vulgar. The learned adhere closely to their hicroglyphical writing, representing every word by its corresponding picture; but the vulgar are frequent in their deviations from it.

HUMAN INVENTIONS CAPABLE

Hieroglyphical writing and speech may indeed be considered in the first instance as two languages, running parallel to each other, but with no necessary connection. The picture and the word each of them represent the idea, one as immediately as the other. But, though independent, they will become accidentally affociated; the picture at first imperfectly, and afterwards more constantly fuggesting the idea of its correspondent found. It is in this manener that the mercantile classes of China began to corrupt, as it is styled, their hieroglyphical writing. They had a word suppose of two fyllables to write. The character appropriate to that word they were not acquainted with, or it failed to fuggest itself to their memory. Each of the fyllables however was a diffinct word in the language, and the characters belonging to them perfeelly familiar. The expedient that suggested itself was to write these two characters with a mark signifying their union, though in reality the characters had hitherto been appropriated to ideas of a different fort, wholly unconnected with that now intended BOOK I. CHAP.VI. to be conveyed. Thus a fort of rebus or chararde was produced. In other cases the word, though monofyllabic, was capable of being divided into two founds, and the same process was employed. This is a first step towards alphabetical analysis. Some word, fuch as the interjection O! or the particle $\mathcal A$ is already a found perfectly simple, and thus furnishes a first stone to the edifice. But, though these ideas may perhaps present us with a faint view of the manner in which an alphabet was produced, yet the actual production of a complete alphabet is perhaps of all human difcoveries, that which required the most persevering reslection, the luckiest concurrence of circumstances, and the most patient and gradual progress.

Let us however suppose man to have gained the two first Application elements of knowledge, speaking and writing; let us trace him through all his fubsequent improvements, through whatever constitutes the inequality between Newton and the ploughman, and indeed much more than this, fince the most ignorant ploughman in civilised society is infinitely different from what he would have been, when stripped of all the benefits he has derived from literature and the arts. Let us furvey the earth covered with the labours of man, houses, inclosures, harvests, manufactures, instruments, machines, together with all the wonders of painting, poetry, eloquence and philosophy.

Such was man in his original state, and such is man as we at present behold him. Is it pessible for us to contemplate what he has already done, without being impressed with a strong prefentiment of the improvements he has yet to accomplish? There is no science that is not capable of additions; there is no art that may not be carried to a still higher perfection. If this be true of all other sciences, why not of morals? If this be true of all other arts, why not of focial inflitution? The very conception of this as possible, is in the highest degree encouraging. If we can still farther demonstrate it to be a part of the natural. and regular progress of mind, our considence and our hopes will then be complete. This is the temper with which we ought to engage in the study of political truth. Let us look back, that we may profit by the experience of mankind; but let us not look back, as if the wisdom of our ancestors was such as to leave no room for future improvement.

is this is an algebra amari bayakili

er til er blig til flim i freggt skeddern.

CHAP.

5 5 T

CHAP. VII.

OF THE OBJECTION TO THESE PRINCIPLES FROM THE INFLUENCE OF CLIMATE.

PART I

OF MORAL AND PHYSICAL CAUSES.

THE QUESTION STATED.—PROVINCES OF SENSATION AND REFLECTION.—MORAL CAUSES FREQUENTLY MISTAKEN FOR PHYSICAL.—SUPERIORITY OF THE FORMER EVIDENT FROM THE VARIETIES OF HUMAN CHARACTER.—OPERATION OF PHYSICAL CAUSES RARE.—FERTILITY OF REFLECTION.—PHYSICAL CAUSES IN THE FIRST INSTANCE SUPERIOR, AFTERWARDS MORAL.—OBJECTION FROM THE EFFECT OF BREED IN ANIMALS.—CONCLUSION.

HERE are certain propositions which may be considered indifferently, either as corollaries flowing from the principles already established, or as a source of new arguments against the validity of those principles. In the first view they are entitled to a clear and perspicuous statement, and in the second to a mature examination. For example:

CHAP.VII

The

H 2

The causes which appear to operate upon the human mind may be divided into two classes; perceptions, which are rendered directly a subject of reasoning, and regarded by the intellect as inducements to action; and perceptions, which act indirectly upon the mind, by rendering the animal frame gay, vigorous and elastic, or on the contrary sluggish, morbid and inactive. According to the fystem already established, the former of these are to be regarded as the whole, the latter being fo comparatively inefficient and fubordinate as to stand in the estimate as almost nothing. To many reasoners however they have by no means appeared of fo trivial importance, and it may not be useless to examine for a moment the ideas they have formed, and the reasons which have induced them to ascribe -fo much to the meanest branch of the human constitution.

Impressions upon our senses may act either as physical or moral causes. Indisposition of the body operates upon the mind principally in the first of these ways, sceming without any formal deliberation of the understanding to incline us to disfatisfaction and indolence. Corporal punishment affects us principally in the latter mode, fince, though it directly introduces a painful state of the mind, it influences our conduct, only as it is reflected upon by the understanding, and converted into a motive of action.

Provinces of

It may be a curious speculation to examine how far these

classes are distinct from each other. It cannot be denied but BOOK I. CHAP.VII. that sensation is of some moment in the affair. It possesses the initiative. It is that from which all the intellects with which we are acquainted date their operations. Its first effect upon mind does in the majority of cases precede reflection and choice. In some cases the impressions upon our senses are foreseen by us, and may consequently be resisted in the outset. But it would be a contradiction to affirm that they can always be forefeen. Forelight is itself the offspring of experience.

Meanwhile, though they can only in particular instances be Moral causes foreseen, and of consequence completely forestalled, yet much millaken for of their effect is in all cases to be ascribed to deliberation and choice. "I feel a painful fensation, and I persuade myself that it is wifer to submit, and thus cherish and second its influence, than to relift. I conceive myself unfortunate, oppressed by a combination of unfavourable accidents, and am rendered by this conception gloomy, discontented and wretched. I setisfy myfelf that my fituation is fuch as to render exertion unreasonable, and believe that the attempt would produce nothing but abortive and fruitless torture. I remain liftless, sluggish and inactive."

How different would be the sum of my situation, if I were animated by sentiments of chearfulness, industry and courage? It has been said "that a rainy day has been known to convert a

BOOK I. man of valour into a coward." How easily would this external disadvantage have been surmounted, if his mind had been more full of the benefits to arise from his valour, if the rainy day had been put in the balance with his wife and children, the most illustrious rewards to be bestowed upon himself, and freedom and felicity to be fecured to his country?" Indigestion," we are told, "perhaps a fit of the tooth-ach, renders a man incapable of strong thinking and spirited exertion." How long would these be able to hold out against a sudden and unexpected piece of intelligence of the most delightful nature? on all you are with the control of the

> When operations of an injurious nature are inflicted on the body, and are encountered by the mind with unalterable firmness, what is the degree of pain which in such instances is suffered? Was the language of Anaxarchus merely a philosophical rant, "Beat on, tyrant! Thou mayest destroy the shell of Anaxarchus, but thou canst not touch Anaxarchus himself?" How much pain was really endured by Mutius Scævola and archbishop Cranmer, when each steadily held his hand to be devoured by the flames? How much is endured by the favage Indians, who fing in the midst of tortures, and farcastically provoke their tormentors to more ingenious barbarity?

> The truth that seems to result from these considerations is, that indisposition only becomes formidable in proportion as it is feconded by the confent of the mind; that our communi-

cation with the material universe is at the mercy of our choice; and that the inability of the understanding for intellectual exertion is principally an affair of moral confideration, existing only in the degree in which it is deliberately preferred.

"The hero of to-day," we are told, "fhall by an indigeftion or Superiority of a rainy atmosphere be converted into a coward to-morrow." evident from Waving the confideration of how far this fact where it exists is in of human reality of a moral and intellectual nature, let us examine to what degree a principle of this fort is the true index of human actions. We have already established it as a fundamental, that there are no innate ideas. Of consequence, if men were principally governed by external circumstances such as that of atmosphere, their characters and actions would be much alike. The fame weather, that made you a coward, would make me fo too, and an army would be defeated by a fog. Perhaps indeed this catastrophe would be prevented by the impartiality of the moifture, in proportion as the enemy advanced, which he necessarily must do, into the same atmosphere. Addition and this way of the cit

Every thing that checks the uniformity of this effect, and permanently diftinguishes the character of one man from that of another, is to be traced to the affociation of ideas. But affociation is of the nature of reasoning. The principal, the most numerous and lasting of our affociations, are intellectual, not accidental, built upon the refemblances and differences of things,

not upon the contingency of their occurring in any given time or place. It is thus that one man appears courageous and another cowardly, one man vigorous and another dull, under the fame or nearly the fame external circumstances.

Operation of

In reality the atmosphere, instead of considerably affecting the mass of mankind, affects in an eminent degree only a small part of that mass. The majority are either above or below it; are either too gross to feel strongly these minute variations, or too busy to be at leisure to attend to them. It is only a few, whose treatment has been tender enough to imbue them with extreme delicacy, and whose faculties are not roused by strong and unintermitted incitements, who can be thus blindly directed. If it should be said "that the weather indeed is too great a trifle to produce these consequences, but that there are pains and interruptions which fearcely any man can withstand;" it may be answered, that these occur too seldom to be mistaken for the efficient principles of human character, that the system which determines our proceedings rifes from a different fource, and ordinarily returns when the pain or interruption has subsided.

There can be no question more interesting than that which we are now confidering. Upon our decision in this case it depends, whether those persons act wisely who prescribe to themselves a certain discipline and are anxious to enrich their minds with science, or whether on the contrary it be better to

trust every thing to the mercy of events. Is it possible that BOOK I. we should not perceive from the very nature of the thing the advantages which the wife man possesses over the foolish one, and that the points in which they refemble will be as nothing compared to those in which they differ? In those particulars in which our conduct is directed merely by external impressions we resemble the inferior animals; we differ from them in the greater facility with which we arrange our fensations, and compare, prefer and judge.

Out of a fingle fensation a great variety of reflections may Fertility of be generated. Let the thing perceived be a material substance of certain regular dimensions. I perceive that it has an upper and a lower furface, I can therefore conceive of it as divided. I can conceive of the parts into which it is formed as moving towards and from each other, and hence I acquire the ideas of distance and space. I can conceive of them as striking against each other, and hence I derive the notion of impenetrability, gravity and momentum, the flowness, rapidity and direction of motion. Let the fensation be a pain in the head. I am led to reflect upon its causes, its seat, the structure of the parts in which it resides, the inconvenience it imposes, the consequences with which it may

It is true that the infant and inexperienced mind cannot thus Physical analyse and conjure up differtations of philosophy out of its most first instance

be attended, the remedies that may be applied and their effects,

whether external or internal, material or intellectual.

Superior, afterwards moral.

BOOK I. trivial sensations. Such a capacity infers a long series of preceding impressions. Mind is in its infancy nearly what these philosophers describe, the creature of contingencies. But the farther it advances, the more it individualises. Each man has habits and prejudices that are properly his own. He lives in a little universe of his own creating, or he communicates with the omnipresent and eternal volume of truth. With these he compares the fuccessive perceptions of his mind, and upon these depend the conclusions he draws and the conduct he observes. Hence it inevitably follows, that physical causes, though of some confequence in the history of man, fink into nothing, when compared. with the great and inexpressible operations of reflection. They are the prejudices we conceive or the judgments we form, our apprehensions of truth and falshood; that constitute the true basis: of distinction between man and man. The difference between favage and favage indeed, in the first generation of the humanspecies and in perfect solitude, can only be ascribed to the different impressions made upon their senses. But this difference would be almost imperceptible. The ideas of wisdom and folly. would never have entered the human mind, if men, like beafts, derived neither good nor evil from the reflections and discoveries of their companions and ancestors.

Objection from the ef-

Hence we are furnished with an answer to the analogical argument from the confiderable effects that physical causes appear to produce upon brutes. "Breed for example appears to be of unquestionable importance to the character and qualifications of horfes.

horses and dogs; why should we not suppose this or certain BOOK I. other brute and occult causes to be equally efficacious in the case of men? How comes it that the races of animals perhaps never degenerate, if carefully cultivated; at the fame time that we have no fecurity against the wifest philosopher's begetting a dunce?"

I answer, that the existence of physical causes cannot be con-

troverted. In the case of man their esticacy is swallowed up in the fuperior importance of reflection and science. In animals on the contrary they are left almost alone. If a race of negroes were taken, and maintained each man from his infancy, except so far as was necessary for the propagation of the species, in solitude; or even if they were excluded from an acquaintance with the improvements and imaginations of their ancestors, though permitted the fociety of each other, the operation of breed might perhaps be rendered as confpicuous among them, as in the different classes of horses and dogs. But the ideas they would otherwife receive from their parents and civilifed or half-civilifed neighbours would be innumerable: and, if the precautions above mentioned were unobserved, all parallel between the two cases would

Such is the character of man confidered as an individual. He Conclusion, is operated upon by exterior causes immediately, producing certain effects upon him independently of the exercise of reason; and he is operated upon by exterior causes mediately, their impressions furnishing him with materials for reslection, and as-

fuming

BOOK I. fuming the form of motives to act or to refrain from acting. But the latter of these, at least so far as relates to man in a civilifed state, may stand for the whole. He that would change the character of the individual, would miserably misapply his efforts, if he principally fought to effect this purpose by the operations of heat and cold, dryness and moisture upon the animal frame. The true instruments of moral influence, are desire and aversion, punishment and reward, the exhibition of general truth, and the development of those punishments and rewards, which wisdom and error by the very nature of the thing constantly bring along with them.

PARTIL

OF NATIONAL CHARACTERS.

CHARACTER OF THE PRIESTHOOD.—ALL NATIONS CAPABLE OF EIBERTY.—THE ASSERTION ILLUSTRATED.—EXPERI-ENCE FAVOURS THESE REASONINGS .- MEANS OF INTRO-DUCING LIBERTY.

S is the character of the individual, so may we expect to find It with nations and great bodies of men. The operations of law and political institution will be important and interesting, the operations of climate trifling and unworthy of notice. Thus there are particular professions, such as that of the priesthood, which must always operate to the production of a particular character. Priests

CHARACTERS.

Priests are upon all occasions accustomed to have their opinions BOOK I. CHAP.VII. Histened to with implicit deference; they will therefore be im- Character of perious, dogmatical and impatient of opposition. Their success the priestwith mankind depends upon the opinion of their superior innocence; they will therefore be particularly anxious about appearances, their deportment will be grave and their manners formal. The frank and ingenuous fallies of mind they will be obliged to suppress; the errors and irregularities into which they may be drawn they will be studious to conceal. They are obliged at ser intervals to assume the exterior of an ardent devotion; but it is impossible that this should at all times be free from occasional coldness and distraction. Their importance is connected with their real or supposed mental superiority over the rest of mankind; they must therefore be patrons of prejudice and implicit faith. Their prosperity depends upon the reception of particular opinions in the world; they must therefore be enemies to freedom of enquiry; they must have a bias upon their minds impressed by fomething different from the force of evidence. Particular moral causes may in some instances limit, perhaps superfede the influence of general ones, and render fome men superior to the character of their profession; but, exclusively of such exceptions, priests of all religions, of all climates and of all ages will have a striking similarity of manners and disposition. In the same man-

ner we may rest assured that free men in whatever country will

be firm, vigorous and spirited in proportion to their freedom, and

that vaffals and flaves will be ignorant, fervile and unprin-

The truth of this axiom has indeed been pretty univerfally admitted; but it has been affirmed to be " impossible to establish a free government in certain warm and effeminate climates." To enable us to judge of the reasonableness of this affirmation, let us consider what process would be necessary in order to introduce a free government into any country.

The answer to this question is to be found in the answer to that other, whether freedom have any real and folid advantages over flavery? If it have, then our mode of proceeding respecting it ought to be exactly parallel to that we should employ in recommending any other benefit. If I would perfuade a man to accept a great estate, supposing that possession to be a real advantage; if I would induce him to felect for his companion a beautiful and accomplished woman, or for his friend a wife, a brave and difinterested man; if I would persuade him to prefer ease to pain, and gratification to torture, what more is necessary, than that I should inform his understanding, and make him see these things in their true and genuine colours? Should I find it necessary to enquire first of what climate he was a native, and whether that were favourable to the possession of a great estate, a fine woman, or a generous friend?

The advantages of liberty over flavery are not less real, though unfortunately they are less palpable, than in the cases just enumerated. Every man has a confused sense of these advantages, but he has been taught to believe that men would tear each other to pieces, if they had not priests to direct their consciences,

CHARACTERS.

sciences, and lords to consult for their subsistence, and kings to BOOK I. CHAP.VII. steer them in safety through the inexplicable dangers of the political ocean. But whether they be misled by these or other prejudices, whatever be the fancied terror that induces them quietly to fubmit to have their hands bound behind them, and the scourge vibrated over their heads, all these are questions of reason. Truth may be presented to them in such irresistible evidence, perhaps by fuch just degrees familiarised to their apprehension, as ultimately to conquer the most obstinate prepossessions. Let the press find its way into Persia or Indostan, let the political truths discovered by the best of the European tages be transfused into their language, and it is impossible that a few folitary converts should not be made. It is the property of truth to spread; and, exclusively of great national convulfions, its advocates in each fucceeding age will be fomewhat more numerous than in that which went before. The causes, which suspend its progress, arise, not from climate, but from the watchful and intolerant jealoufy of despotic sovereigns.

Let us suppose then that the majority of a nation by how- The affection ever flow a progress are convinced of the desirableness, or, which amounts to the fame, the practicability of freedom. The fupposition would be parallel, if we were to imagine ten thousand men of found intellect, thut up in a madhouse, and superintended by a fet of three or four keepers. Hitherto they have been perfuaded, for what abfurdity has been too great for human intellect

to entertain? that they were destitute of reason, and that the superintendence under which they were placed was necessary for their preservation. They have therefore submitted to whips and straw and bread and water, and perhaps imagined this tyranny to be a bleffing. But a fuspicion is at length by some means propagated among them, that all they have hitherto endured has been an imposition. The suspicion spreads, they reflect, they reason, the idea is communicated from one to another through the chinks of their cells, and at certain times when the vigilance of their keepers has not precluded them from the pleafures of mutual fociety. It becomes the clear perception, the fettled persuasion of the majority of the persons confined.

What will be the consequence of this opinion? Will the influence of climate prevent them from embracing the obvious means of their happiness? Is there any human understanding that will not perceive a truth like this, when forcibly and repeatedly presented? Is there a mind that will conceive no indignation at so horrible a tyranny? In reality the chains fall off of themselves, when the magic of opinion is dissolved. When a great majority of any fociety are perfuaded to fecure any benefit to themselves, there is no need of tumult or violence to effect it. The effort would be to refult reason, not to obey it. The prifoners are collected in their common hall, and the keepers inform them that it is time to return to their cells. They have no longer the power to obey. They look at the impotence of their

their late masters, and smile at their presumption. They quietly leave the manfion where they were hitherto immured, and partake of the bleffings of light and air like other men.

Let us compare this theory with the history of mankind. If Experience favours these the theory be true, we may expect to find the inhabitants of reasonings. neighbouring provinces in different states, widely discriminated by the influence of government, and little affimilated by refemblance of climate. Thus the Gascons are the gayest people in all France; but the moment we pass the Pyrenees, we find the serious and saturnine character of the Spaniard. Thus the Athenians were lively, penetrating and ingenious, but the Thebans unpolished, phlegmatic and dull.—It would be reasonable to expect that different races of men, intermixed with each other, but differently governed, would afford a strong and visible contrast. Thus the Turks are brave, open and fincere, but the modern Greeks mean, cowardly and deceitful.-Wandering tribes closely connected among themselves, and having little sympathy with the people with whom they refide, may be expected to have great fimilarity of manners. Their fituation renders them confpicuous, the faults of individuals reflect dishonour upon the whole, and their manners will be particularly fober and reputable, unless they should happen to labour under so peculiar an odium as to render all endeavour after reputation fruitless. Thus the Armeni-

ans in the East are as univerfally distinguished among the nations

with whom they refide, as the Jews in Europe; but the Arme-

BOOK I. CHAP.VII.

mians are as much noted for probity, as the Jews for extortion.—
What refemblance is there between the ancient and the modern
Greeks, between the old Romans and the present inhabitants of
Italy, between the Gauls and the French? Diodorus Siculus describes the Gauls as particularly given to taciturnity, and Aristotle
affirms that they are the only warlike nation who are negligent
of women.

If on the contrary climate were principally concerned in forming the characters of nations, we might expect to find heat and cold producing an extraordinary effect upon men, as they do upon plants and inferior animals. But the reverse of this appears to be the fact. Is it supposed that the neighbourhood of the fun renders men gay, fantastic and ingenious? While the French, the Greeks and the Persians have been remarkable for their gaiety, the Spaniards, the Turks and the Chinese are not less distinguished by the seriousness of their deportment. It was the opinion of the ancients that the northern nations were incapable of civilifation and improvement; but the moderns have found that the English are not inferior in literary eminence to any nation in the world. Is it afferted, that the northern nations are more hardy and courageous, and that conquest has usually travelled from that to the opposite quarter? It would have been truer to fay that conquest is usually made by poverty upon plenty. The Turks, who from the deferts of Tartary invaded the fertile provinces of the Roman empire, met the Saracens half way, who were advancing with similar views from the no less dreary deserts of Arabia. In their extreme perhaps heat and cold may determine the characters of nations, of the negroes for example on one side and the Laplanders on the other. Not but that in this very instance much may be ascribed to the wretchedness of a sterile climate on the one hand, and to the indolence consequent upon a spontaneous fertility on the other. As to what is more than this, the remedy has not yet been discovered. Physical causes have already appeared to be powerful, till moral ones can be brought into operation.

Has it been alledged that carnivorous nations are endowed with the greatest courage? The Swedes, whose nutriment is meagre and sparing, have ranked with the most distinguished modern nations in the operations of war.

and love the analysis of Language property of the Language of the Committee of the Committe

It is usually said, that northern nations are most addicted to wine, and southern to women. Admitting this observation in its sull force, it would only prove that climate may operate upon the grosser particles of our frame, not that it insluences those siner organs upon which the operations of intellect depend. But the truth of the first of these remarks may well be doubted. The Greeks appear to have been sufficiently addicted to the pleasures of the bottle. Among the Persians no character was more coveted than that of a hard drinker. It is easy to obtain any thing

K 2

of

BOOK I. of the negroes, even their wives and children, in exchange for - liquor ا

OF NATIONAL

As to women the circumstance may be accounted for from moral causes. The heat of the climate obliges both sexes to go half naked. The animal arrives fooner at maturity in hot countries. And both these circumstances produce vigilance and jealoufy, causes which inevitably tend to inflame the passions *......

Means of in-

The result of these reasonings is of the utmost importance to him who speculates upon principles of government. It is of little: consequence what discoveries may be made in moral and political: science, if, when we have ascertained most accurately what are the intellectual requisites that lead to wisdom and virtue, a blind and capricious principle is to intrude itself, and taint all our conclusions. Accordingly there have been writers on the subject of. government, who, admitting, and even occasionally declaiming with enthuliasm upon the advantages of liberty and the equal: claims of mankind to every focial benefit, have yet concluded: that the corruptions of despotism and the usurpations of aristocracy were congenial to certain ages and divisions of the world, and under proper limitations entitled to our approbation.

* The majority of instances in the three preceding pages are taken from Hume's Essay on National Characters, where this subject is treated with much. ability. Essays, Vol. I, Part I, Essay xxi.

But

But this hypothesis will be found incapable of holding out BOOK I. CHAP.VII. against a moment's serious reslection. Can there be any state of inankind that renders them incapable of the exercise of reason? Can there be a period in which it is necessary to hold the human fpecies in a condition of pupillage? If there be, it feems but reasonable that their superintendents and guardians, as in the case of infants of another fort, should provide for the means of their fubfistence without calling upon them for the exertions of manual industry. Wherever men are competent to look the first duties of humanity in the face, and to provide for their defence against the invasions of hunger and the inclemencies of the sky, there they will out of all doubt be found equally capable of every other exertion that may be necessary to their security and welfare. Present to them a constitution which shall put them into a simple and intelligible method of directing their own affairs, adjudging their contests among themselves, and cherishing in their bosoms a manly fense of dignity, equality and independence, and you need not doubt that prosperity and virtue will be the refult.

The real enemies of liberty in any country are not the people, but those higher orders who profit by a contrary fystem. Infuse just views of society into a certain number of the liberally educated and reflecting members; give to the people guides and ? instructors; and the business is done. This however is not to be accomplished but in a gradual manner, as will more fully.

BOOK I. appear in the sequel. The error lies, not in tolerating the worst forms of government for a time, but in supposing a change impracticable, and not incessantly looking forward to its accomplishment.

CHAP. VIII.

OF THE OBJECTION TO THESE PRINCIPLES FROM THE INFLUENCE OF LUXURY.

THE OBJECTION STATED .- SOURCE OF THIS OBJECTION .-REFUTED FROM MUTABILITY-FROM MORTALITY-FROM SYMPATHY-FROM THE NATURE OF TRUTH.-THE PRO-BABILITY OF PERSEVERANCE CONSIDERED.

HERE is another proposition relative to the subject, BOOK I. Which is less to be considered as an affertion distinct in itself, than as a particular branch of that which has just been tion stated. discussed; I mean the proposition which affirms, "that nations like individuals are subject to the phenomena of youth and old age, and that, when a people by luxury and depravation of manners have funk into decrepitude, it is not in the power of legislation to restore them to vigour and innocence."

This idea has partly been founded upon the romantic notions Source of this of pastoral life and the golden age. Innocence is not virtue. Virtue demands the active employment of an ardent mind in the promotion of the general good. No man can be eminently virtuous, who is not accustomed to an extensive range of reflection. He must see all the benefits to arise from a difinterested

CHAP.

proceeding, and must understand the proper method of producing those benefits. Ignorance, the flothful habits and limited views of uncultivated life have not in them more of true virtue, though they may be more harmless, than luxury, vanity and extravagance. Individuals of exquisite feeling, whose disgust has been excited by the hardened felfishness or the unblushing corruption which have prevailed in their own times, have recurred in imagination to the forests of Norway or the bleak and uncomfortable Highlands of Scotland in fearch of a purer race of mankind. This imagination has been the offspring of disappointment, not the dictate of reason and philosophy.

It may be true, that ignorance is nearer than prejudice to the reception of wisdom, and that the absence of virtue is a condition more hopeful than the presence of its opposite. In this case it would have been juster to compare a nation sunk in luxury, to an individual with confirmed habits of wrong, than to an individual whom a debilitated constitution was bringing fast to the grave. But neither would that comparison have been fair and equitable.

Refuted from

The condition of nations is more fluctuating, and will be found less obstinate in its resistance to a consistent endeavour for their improvement, than that of individuals. In nations fome of their members will be less confirmed in error than others. A certain number will be only in a very small degree indisposed

to listen to the voice of truth. This number will perpetually increase. Every new convert will be the means of converting others. In proportion as the body of disciples is augmented, the modes of attack upon the prejudices of others will be varied, and fuited to the variety of men's tempers and prepossessions.

Add to this that generations of men are perpetually going off from nortathe stage, while other generations succeed. The next generation will not have fo many prejudices to fubdue. Suppose a despotic nation by some revolution in its affairs to become posfessed of a free constitution. The children of the present race will be bred in more firm and independent habits of thinking; the suppleness, the timidity and the vicious dexterity of their fathers will give place to an erect mien, and a clear and decifive judgment. The partial and imperfect change of character which was introduced at first, will in the succeeding age become more unalloyed and complete.

Lastly, the power of social institutions changing the character from sympa of nations is very different from and infinitely greater than any power which can ordinarily be brought to bear upon a folitary individual. Large bodies of men, when once they have been enlightened and perfuaded, act with more vigour than folitary individuals. They animate the mutual exertions of each other, and the united forces of example and shame urge them to perfeverance. The case is not of that customary fort where the

power

power of reason only is tried in curing any person of his errors; but is as if he should be placed in an entirely new situation. His habits are broken through, and his motives of action changed. Instead of being perpetually recalled to vicious practices by the recurrence of his former connections, the whole fociety receives an impulse from the same cause that acts upon any individual. New ideas are fuggested, and the surprise of novelty conspires with the approbation of truth to prevent men from falling back into imbecility and languor. 1997年,1997年,1998年,1998年,1998年,1998年中国

from the na-

The question may in reality be reduced to an enquiry, whether the human understanding can be made the recipient of truth, whether it be possible for an effort so strenuous to exist as to make men aware of their true interests. For let this be granted, and the consequence is inevitable. It has already sufficiently appeared, that whatever is politically right or politically wrong, must be in all cases of no trivial consequence to the welfare of mankind. Monarchy for example will by all men be acknowledged to be attended with many disadvantages. It acts upon insufficient and partial information, it generates intrigue, corruption, adulation and fervility. If it could be proved, that it produced no advantages in equal proportion, and that its abolition would not lead to mischief, anarchy and disorder, is there a nation upon the face of the earth to whom these propositions were rendered palpable, that would endure to submit to it? Is there a nation upon the face of the earth, that would submit

to the impositions of its administration, the wars it occasions, BOOK I. and the lavish revenues by which it is maintained, if they knew it to be merely an excrescence and a disease in the order of

ALLEY OF LUXURY.

fociety? All the larger to the first of the control or of object fift in a range of the first will be

But it has been farther alledged, that, even should a luxurious The probanation be prompted by intolerable grievances and notorious fevera usurpation to affert the just principles of human fociety, they would be unable to perpetuate them, and would foon be led back by their evil habits to their former vices and corruption: that is, they would be capable of the heroic energy that should expel the usurper, but not of the moderate resolution that should prevent his return. They would rouse themselves so far from their lethargy as to assume a new character and enter into different views; but, after having for some time acted upon their convictions, they would fuddenly become incapable of understanding the truth of their principles and feeling their influence.

Men always act upon their apprehensions of preferableness. There are few errors of which they are guilty, which may not be resolved into a narrow and inadequate view of the alternative presented for their choice. Present pleasure may appear more certain and eligible than distant good. But they never choose evil as apprehended to be evil. Wherever a clear and unanswerable notion of any fubject is presented to their view, a correspondent action or course of actions inevitably follows. Having thus gained

L 2

OF THE INFLUENCE OF LUXURY.

BOOK I. one step in the acquisition of truth, it cannot easily be conceived of as loft. A body of men, having detected the injurious confequences of an evil under which they have long laboured, and having shaken it off, will scarcely voluntarily restore the mischief they have annihilated. Nothing can reconcile them to the revival of falshood, which does not obliterate their present conviction of truth.

CONCERNING

POLITICAL JUSTICE.

BOOK II.

PRINCIPLES OF SOCIETY.

CHAP, I,

INTRODUCTION.

NATURE OF THE ENQUIRY-MODE OF PURSUING IT.-DIS-TINCTION BETWEEN SOCIETY AND GOVERNMENT.

R. Locke begins his celebrated Treatife of Government with a refutation of the patriarchal scheme of fir Robert CHAP. I. Filmer; and, having thus cleared his ground, proceeds to observe, enquiry. that "he, that will not give just occasion to think that all government in the world is the product only of force and violence, and that men live together by no other rules but that of beafts,

AN

BOOK II. must of necessity find out another rise of government, and another original of political power *." Accordingly he proceeds through the greater part of his treatife to reason abstractedly upon the probable history of the early ages of mankind, and concludes that no legitimate government could be built upon any other foundation than that of an original contract.

> It is to be suspected that this great man, friend as he was to the liberty and the interests of mankind, intrepid and fagacious in his fearch after truth, has been guilty of an overlight in the first step of the investigation.

Mode of pur-fuing it.

There are two modes, according to which we may enquire into the origin of fociety and government. We may either examine them historically, that is, consider in what manner they have or ought to have begun, as Mr. Locke has done; or we may examine them philosophically, that is, consider the moral principles upon which they depend. The first of these subjects is not without its use; but the second is of a higher order and more essential importance. The first is a question of form; the fecond of substance. It would be of trivial consequence practically considered, from what source any form of society slowed, and by what mode its principles were fanctioned, could we be always secure of their conformity to the dictates of truth and, justice.

Book II. Chap. i. § 1.

It is farther necessary before we enter upon the subject carefully to distinguish between society and government. Men affociated at first for the sake of mutual assistance. They did not foresee that any restraint would be necessary, to regulate the conduct of individual members of the fociety, towards each other, or towards the whole. The necessity of restraint grew out of the errors and perverleness of a few. An acute writer has expressed this idea with peculiar felicity. "Society and government," fays he, " are different in themselves, and have different origins. Society is produced by our wants, and government by our wickedness. Society is in every state a blessing; government even in its best state but a necessary evil *."

OF SOCIETY.

* Common Sense, p. 1.

CHAP.

CONNECTION OF POLITICS AND MORALS. -EXTENT AND MEANING OF JUSTICE. SUBJECT OF JUSTICE: MAN-KIND.—ITS DISTRIBUTION MEASURED BY THE CAPACITY OF ITS SUBJECT—BY HIS USEFULNESS.—FAMILY AFFEC-TION CONSIDERED. -GRATITUDE CONSIDERED. -OBJEC-TIONS: FROM IGNORANCE-FROM UTILITY .-- AN EX-CEPTION STATED .- DEGREES OF JUSTICE .- APPLICA-TION .- IDEA OF POLITICAL JUSTICE.

ROM what has been faid it appears, that the subject of the present enquiry is strictly speaking a department of the science of morals. Morality is the source from which its fundamental axioms must be drawn, and they will be made fomewhat clearer in the present instance, if we assume the term justice as a general appellation for all moral duty.

Extent and jullice.

That this appellation is fufficiently expressive of the subject will appear, if we consider for a moment mercy, gratitude, temperance, or any of those duties which in looser speaking are contradiftinguished from justice. Why should I pardon this criminal, remunerate

remunerate this favour, abstain from this indulgence? If it BOOK II. partake of the nature of morality, it must be either right or wrong, just or unjust. It must tend to the benefit of the individual, either without intrenching upon, or with actual advantage to the mass of individuals. Either way it benefits the whole, because individuals are parts of the whole. Therefore to do it is just, and to forbear it is unjust. If justice have any meaning, it is just that I should contribute every thing in my power to the benefit of the whole.

Considerable light will probably be thrown upon our investi- Subject of gation, if, quitting for the prefent the political view, we examine kind justice merely as it exists among individuals. Justice is a rule of conduct originating in the connection of one percipient being with another. A comprehensive maxim which has been laid down upon the subject is, " that we should love our neighbour as ourselves." But this maxim, though possessing considerable merit as a popular principle, is not modelled with the strictness of philosophical accuracy.

In a loose and general view I and my neighbour are both of Its distribuus men; and of consequence entitled to equal attention. But in sured by the reality it is probable that one of us is a being of more worth its subject : and importance than the other. A man is of more worth than a beast; because, being possessed of higher faculties, he is capable of a more refined and genuine happiness. In the same manner

his chambermaid, and there are few of us that would hefitate

to pronounce, if his palace were in flames, and the life of only

one of them could be preferved, which of the two ought to be

BOOK II. the illustrious archbishop of Cambray was of more worth than

the chambermaid to have preferred the archbishop to herself. To have done otherwise would have been a breach of justice.

OF JUSTICE.

preferred.

But there is another ground of preserence, beside the private confideration of one of them being farther removed from the state of a mere animal. We are not connected-with one or two percipient beings, but with a fociety, a nation, and in some fense with the whole family of mankind. Of consequence that life ought to be preferred which will be most conducive to the general good. In faving the life of Fenelon; suppose at the moment when he was conceiving the project of his immortal Telemachus, I should be promoting the benefit of thousands, who have been cured by the perufal of it of some error, vice and confequent unhappiness. Nay, my benefit would extend farther than this, for every individual thus cured has become a better member of fociety, and has contributed in his turn to the happiness, the information and improvement of others.

Supposing I had been myself the chambermaid; I ought to have chosen to die, rather than that Fenelon should have died. The life of Fenelon was really preferable to that of the chambermaid. But understanding is the faculty that perceives the truth of this and fimilar propositions; and justice is the principle that regulates

Supposing the chambermaid had been my wife, my mother Family affecor my benefactor. This would not alter the truth of the pro- dered. position. The life of Fenelon would still be more valuable than that of the chambermaid; and justice, pure, unadulterated justice, would still have preferred that which was most valuable. Justice would have taught me to fave the life of Fenelon at the expence of the other. What magic is there in the pronoun "my," to overturn the decisions of everlasting truth? My wife or my mother may be a fool or a profitute, malicious, lying or dishonest. If they be, of what consequence is it that they are mine?

"But my mother endured for me the pains of child bearing, Gratitude and nourished me in the helplessness of infancy." When she first subjected herself to the necessity of these cares, she was probably influenced by no particular motives of benevolence to her future offspring. Every voluntary benefit however entitles the bestower to some kindness and retribution. But why so? Because a voluntary benefit is an evidence of benevolent intention, that is, of virtue. It is the disposition of the mind, not the external action, that entitles to respect. But the merit of this disposition is equal, whether the benefit was conferred upon me or upon another. I and another man cannot both be right in preferring · M 2

our own individual benefactor, for no man can be at the sametime both better and worse than his neighbour. My benefactorought to be esteemed, not because he bestowed a benefit upon me, but because he bestowed it upon a human being. His defert will be in exact proportion to the degree, in which that human being was worthy of the distinction conferred. Thus. every view of the subject brings us back to the consideration of myneighbour's moral worth and his importance to the general weal, as the only standard to determine the treatment to which he is entitled. Gratitude therefore, a principle which has so often been the theme of the moralist and the poet, is no part either of justice. or virtue. By gratitude I understand a sentiment, which would. lead me to prefer one man to another, from some other confideration than that of his superior usefulness or worth: that is, which would make fomething true to me (for example this preferableness), which cannot be true to another man, and is not true in itself *.

Objections:

from igno-

It may be objected, " that my relation, my companion, or my benefactor will of course in many instances obtain an uncommonportion of my regard: for, not being univerfally capable of difcriminating the comparative worth of different men, I shall inevitably judge most favourably of him, of whose virtues I havereceived the most unquestionable proofs; and thus shall be compelled to prefer the man of moral worth whom I know, to BOOK II. another who may possess, unknown to me, an essential superiority."

This compulsion however is founded only in the present imperfection of human nature. It may ferve as an apology for my error, but can never turn error into truth. It will always remain contrary to the strict and inflexible decisions of justice. The difficulty of conceiving this is owing merely to our confounding the disposition from which an action is chosen, with the action itself. The disposition, that would prefer virtue to vice and a greater degree of virtue to a less, is undoubtedly a subject of approbation; the erroneous exercise of this disposition by which a wrong object is selected, if unavoidable, is to be deplored, but can by no colouring and under no denomination be converted into right *_

It may in the second place be objected, "that a mutual from utility. commerce of benefits tends to increase the mass of benevolent action, and that to increase the mass of benevolent action is to contribute to the general good." Indeed! Is the general good promoted by falshood, by treating a man of one degree of worth, as if he had ten times that worth? or as if he were in any degree different from what he really is? Would not the most beneficial confequences refult from a different plan; from my

^{*} This argument respecting gratitude is stated with great clearness in an Essay: on the Nature of True Virtue, by the Rev. Jonathan Edwards. 12mo. Dilly.

^{*} See this subject more copiously treated in the following chapter.

BOOK II. CHAP. II.

86

constantly and carefully enquiring into the deserts of all those with whom I am connected, and from their being sure, after a certain allowance for the fallibility of human judgment, of being treated by me exactly as they deserved? Who can tell what would be the effects of such a plan of conduct universally adopted?

An exception flated.

There feems to be more truth in the argument, derived chiefly from the unequal distribution of property, in favour of my providing in ordinary cases for my wise and children, my brothers and relations, before I provide for strangers. As long as providing for individuals belongs to individuals, it seems as if there must be a certain distribution of the class needing superintendence and supply among the class affording it, that each man may have his claim and resource. But this argument, if admitted at all, is to be admitted with great caution. It belongs only to ordinary cases; and cases of a higher order or a more urgent necessity will perpetually occur, in competition with which these will be altogether impotent. We must be severely scrupulous in measuring out the quantity of supply; and, with respect to money in particular, must remember how little is yet understood of the true mode of employing it for the public benefit.

Degrees of

Having considered the persons with whom justice is converfant, let us next enquire into the degree in which we are obliged to consult the good of others. And here I say, that it is just that

that I should do all the good in my power. Does any person BOOK II. in distress apply to me for relief? It is my duty to grant it, and I commit a breach of duty in refusing. If this principle be not of univerfal application, it is because, in conferring a benefit upon an individual, I may in some instances inslict an injury of fuperior magnitude upon myfelf or fociety. Now the fame justice, that binds me to any individual of my fellow men, binds me to the whole. If, while I confer a benefit upon one man, it appear, in striking an equitable balance, that I am injuring the whole, my action ceases to be right and becomes absolutely wrong. But how much am I bound to do for the general weal, that is, for the benefit of the individuals of whom the whole is composed? Every thing in my power. What to the neglect of the means of my own existence? No; for I am myself a part of the whole. Beside, it will rarely happen but that the project of doing for others every thing in my power, will demand for its execution the preservation of my own existence; or in other words, it will rarely happen but that I can do more good in twenty years than in one. If the extraordinary case should occur in which I can promote the general good by my death, more than by my life, justice requires that I should be content to die. In all other cases, it is just that I should be careful to maintain my body and my mind in the utmost vigour, and in the best condition for service *.

* Vide Appendix to this chapter, No. I.

I will

\$8

I will suppose for example that it is right for one man to posless a greater portion of property than another, either as the fruit of his industry, or the inheritance of his ancestors. Justice obliges him to regard this property as a truft, and calls upon him maturely to confider in what manner it may best be employed for the increase of liberty, knowledge and virtue. He has no right to dispose of a shilling of it at the will of his caprice. So far from being entitled to well earned applause for having employed some scanty pittance in the service of philanthropy, he is in the eye of justice a delinquent if he withhold any portion from that fervice. Nothing can be more incontrovertible. Could that portion have been better or more worthily employed? That it could is implied in the very terms of the proposition. Then it was just it should have been so employed.—In the same manner as my property, I hold my person as a trust in behalf of mankind. I am bound to employ my talents, my understanding, my strength and my time for the production of the greatest quantity of general good. Such are the declarations of justice, so great is the extent of my duty.

But justice is reciprocal. If it be just that I should confer a benefit, it is just that another man should receive it, and, if I withhold from him that to which he is entitled, he may justly complain. My neighbour is in want of ten pounds that I can spare. There is no law of political institution that has been made to reach this case, and to transfer this property from me to him. But

But in the eye of simple justice, unless it can be shewn that the BOOK II. CHAP. II. money can be more beneficently employed, his claim is as complete, as if he had my bond in his possession, or had supplied me with goods to the amount *.

OF JUSTICE.

To this it has fometimes been answered, " that there is more than one person, that stands in need of the money I have to fpare, and of consequence I must be at liberty to bestow it as I please." I answer, if only one person offer himself to my knowledge or fearch, to me there is but one. Those others that I cannot find belong to other rich men to assist (rich men, I say, for every man is rich, who has more money than his just occasions demand), and not to me. If more than one person offer, I am obliged to balance their fitness, and conduct myself accordingly.

It is therefore impossible for me to confer upon any man a favour, I can only do him a right. Whatever deviates from the law of justice, even I will suppose in the too much done in favour of some individual or some part of the general whole, is fo much subtracted from the general stock, is so much of absolute injustice.

It is scarcely possible to happen that two men shall be of exactly

equal fitness, or that I shall be equally certain of the fitness of

the one as of the other.

* A spirited outline of these principles is sketched in Swift's Sermon on Mutual Subjection.

The

BOOK II. CHAP. II. Application.

The inference most clearly afforded by the preceding reasonings, is the competence of justice as a principle of deduction in all cases of moral enquiry. The reasonings themselves are rather of the nature of illustration and example, and any error that may be imputed to them in particulars, will not invalidate the general conclusion, the propriety of applying moral justice as a criterion in the investigation of political truth.

Idea of poli-tical justice.

Society is nothing more than an aggregation of individuals. Its claims and its duties must be the aggregate of their claims and duties, the one no more precarious and arbitrary than the other. What has the fociety a right to require from me? The question is already answered: every thing that it is my duty to do. Any thing more? Certainly not. Can they change eternal truth, or subvert the nature of men and their actions? Can they make it my duty to commit intemperance, to maltreat or affassinate my neighbour?—Again. What is it that the society is bound to do for its members? Every thing that can contribute to their welfare. But the nature of their welfare is defined by the nature of mind. That will most contribute to it, which enlarges the understanding, supplies incitements to virtue, fills us with a generous consciousness of our independence, and carefully removes whatever can impede our exertions.

Should it be affirmed, " that it is not in the power of any political fystem to secure to us these advantages," the conclusion I

am

am drawing will still be incontrovertible. It is bound to contribute BOOK II. CHAP. II. every thing it is able to these purposes, and no man was ever yet found hardy enough to affirm that it could do nothing. Suppose its influence in the utmost degree limited, there must be one method approaching nearer than any other to the defired object, and that method ought to be univerfally adopted. There is one thing that political inflitutions can affuredly do, they can avoid positively counteracting the true interests of their subjects. But all capricious rules and arbitrary distinctions do positively counteract them. There is scarcely any modification of society but has in it some degree of moral tendency. So far as it produces neither mischief nor benefit, it is good for nothing. So far as it tends to the improvement of the community, it ought to be univerfally adopted,

OF JUSTICE.

N 2

APPENDIX

APPENDIX, No. I. p. 87.

OF SUICIDE.

MOTIVES OF SUICIDE: I. ESCAPE FROM PAIN. -2. BENEVO-LENCE. MARTYRDOM CONSIDERED.

CHAP. II.

APPENDIX. Motives of fuicide. 1. Escape

HIS reasoning will explain to us the long disputed case of fuicide. " Have I a right under any circumstances to destroy myself in order to escape from pain or disgrace?" Probably not. It is perhaps impossible to imagine a situation, that shall exclude the possibility of future life, vigour and usefulness. The motive assigned for escape is eminently trivial, to avoid pain, which is a fmall inconvenience; or difgrace, which is an imaginary evil. The example of fortitude in enduring them, if there were no other confideration, would probably afford a better motive for continuing to live.

2. Benevo-

" Is there then no case in which suicide is a virtue?" What shall we think of the reasoning of Lycurgus, who, when he determined upon a voluntary death, remarked, "that all the faculties a rational being possessed were capable of a moral use, and that, after having fpent his life in the service of his country, a man ought, if possible, to render his death a source of additional benefit?" This was the motive of the suicide of Codrus, Leonida's and Decius. If the same motive prevailed in the much admired fuicide of Cato, if he were instigated by reasons purely benevolent, it is impossible not to applaud his intention, even if he were mistaken in the application.

OF SUICIDE.

The difficulty is to decide in any inflance whether the recourse to a voluntary death can overbalance the usefulness I may exert in twenty or thirty years of additional life. But furely it would be precipitate to decide that there is no fuch instance. There is a proverb which affirms, " that the blood of the martyrs is the feed of the church." It is commonly supposed that Junius Brutus did right in putting his fons to death in the first year of the Roman republic, and that this action contributed more than any other cause, to generate that energy and virtue for which his country was afterwards fo eminently distinguished. The death of Cato produced an effect fomewhat fimilar to this. It was dwelt on with admiration by all the lovers of virtue under the subsequent tyrants of Rome. It seemed to be the lamp from which they caught the facred flame. Who can tell how much it has contributed to revive that flame in after ages, when it feemed to have been so long extinct?

Let it be observed that all martyrs [uaphopse] are suicides by the Mutyrdom very fignification of the term. They die for a testimony [μαρθυριο]; that is, they have a motive for dying. But motives respect only our own voluntary acts, not the violence put upon us by another.

APPENDIX,

7

APPENDIX,

OF DUELLING.

MOTIVES OF DUELLING: 1. REVENGE. - 2. REPUTATION FOR COURAGE. - FALLACY OF THIS MOTIVE. - OBJECTION AN-SWERED .- ILLUSTRATION.

CHAP. II.

94

T may be proper in this place to bestow a moment's consideration upon the trite, but very important case of duelling. A very short reflection will suffice to set it in its true light.

1. Revenge.

This detestable practice was originally invented by barbarians for the gratification of revenge. It was probably at that time thought a very happy project for reconciling the odiousness of malignity with the gallantry of courage.

2. Reputation

But in this light it is now generally given up. Men of the best understanding who lend it their fanction, are unwillingly induced to do fo, and engage in fingle combat merely that their reputation may fustain no slander.

Fallacy of

Which of these two actions is the truest test of courage: the engaging in a practice which our judgment disapproves, because we cannot submit to the consequences of following that judgment; or the doing what we believe to be right, and chearfully encounencountering all the consequences that may be annexed to the BOOK II. practice of virtue? With what patience can a man of virtue think of cutting off the life of a fellow mortal, or of putting an abrupt close to all the generous projects he may himself conceive for the benefit of others, merely because he has not firmness enough to awe impertinence and falshood into silence?

"But the refufing a duel is an ambiguous action. Cowards Objection. may pretend principle to shelter themselves from a danger they dare not meet."

This is partly true and partly false. There are few actions Answered. indeed that are not ambiguous, or that with the same general outline may not proceed from different motives. But the manner of doing them will fufficiently shew the principle from which they fpring.

He, that would break through an univerfally received custom Illustration. because he believes it to be wrong, must no doubt arm himself with fortitude. The point in which we chiefly fail, is in not accurately understanding our own intentions, and taking care beforehand to free ourselves from any alloy of weakness and error. He, who comes forward with no other idea in his mind but that of rectitude, and who expresses, with the simplicity and firmness which full conviction never fails to inspire, the views with which he is impressed, is in no danger of being mistaken for a

coward.

APPENDIX.

coward. If he hesitate, it is because he has not an idea persectly clear of the fentiment he intends to convey. If he be in any degree embarrassed, it is because he has not a feeling sufficiently generous and intrepid of the guilt of the action in which he is pressed to engage.

If there be any meaning in courage, its first ingredient must be the daring to speak the truth at all times, to all persons, and in every possible situation. What is it but the want of courage that should prevent me from faying, "Sir, I ought to refuse your challenge. . What I ought to do, that I dare do. Have I injured you? I will readily and without compulsion repair my injustice to the uttermost mite. Have you misconstrued me? State to me the particulars, and doubt not that what is true I will make appear to be true. Thus far I will go. But, though I should be branded for a coward by all mankind, I will not repair to a scene of deliberate murder. I will not do an act that I know to be flagitious. I will exercise my judgment upon every proposition that comes before me; the dictates of that judgment I will speak; and upon them I will form my conduct." He that holds this language with a countenance in unifon with his words, will never be fufpected of acting from the impulse of fear.

[97]

C H A P. III.

OF DUTY.

A DIFFICULTY STATED .- OF ABSOLUTE AND PRACTICAL VIRTUE. -- IMPROPRIETY OF THIS DISTINCTION .-- UNI-VERSALITY OF WHAT IS CALLED PRACTICAL VIRTUE-INSTANCED IN ROBBERY—IN RELIGIOUS FANATICISM.— THE QUALITY OF AN ACTION DISTINCT FROM THE DIS-POSITION WITH WHICH IT IS PERFORMED-FARTHER DIFFICULTY .- MEANING OF THE TERM, DUTY .- APPLI-CATION .- INFERENCES.

THERE is a difficulty of confiderable magnitude as to the BOOK II. fubject of the preceding chapter, founded upon the difference which may exist between abstract justice and my appre- stated. henfions of justice. When I do an act, wrong in itself, but which as to all the materials of judging extant to my understanding appears to be right, is my conduct virtuous or vicious?

Certain moralists have introduced a distinction upon this head Of absolute between absolute and practical virtue. "There is one species of virtue." virtue," they fay, " which rifes out of the nature of things and is immutable, and another which rifes out of the views extant to my understanding. Thus for example suppose, I ought to

CHAP.

worship Jesus Christ; but, having been bred in the religion of Mahomet, I ought to adhere to that religion, as long as its evidences shall appear to me conclusive. I am impannelled upon a jury to try a man arraigned for murder, and who is really innocent. Abstractedly considered, I ought to acquit him. But I am unacquainted with his innocence, and evidence is adduced fuch as to form the strongest presumption of his guilt. Demonstration in such cases is not to be attained; I am obliged in every concern of human life to act upon presumption; I ought therefore to convict him."

It may be doubted however whether any good purpose is likely to be answered by employing the terms of abstract science in this versatile and uncertain manner. Morality is, if any thing can be, fixed and immutable; and there must furely be some strange deception that should induce us to give to an action eternally and unchangeably wrong, the epithets of rectitude, duty and virtue.

Univerfality

Nor have these moralists been thoroughly aware to what exof what is called practical virtue:

11 L. Cabele in inventing an apology for that to which its credibly fubtle in inventing an apology for that to which its inclination leads. Nothing is fo rare as pure and unmingled hypocrify. There is no action of our lives which we were not ready at the time of adopting it to justify, unless so far as we were prevented by mere indolence and unconcern. There is **fcarcely**

fcarcely any justification which we endeavour to pass upon others, which we do not with tolerable fuccess pass upon ourselves. The distinction therefore which is here fet up would go near to prove that every action of every human being is entitled to the appellation of virtuous.

OF DUTY.

There is perhaps no man that cannot recollect the time when inflanced in he fecretly called in question the arbitrary division of property established in human society, and felt inclined to appropriate to his use any thing the possession of which appeared to him defirable. It is probably in some such way that men are usually influenced in the perpetration of robbery. They perfuade themfelves of the comparative inutility of the property to its prefent possessor, and the inestimable advantage that would attend it in their hands. They believe that the transfer ought to be made. It is of no consequence that they are not consistent in these views, that the impressions of education speedily recur to their minds, and that in a season of adversity they readily confess the wickedness of their proceeding. It is not less true that they did what at the moment they thought to be right.

But there is another confideration that feems still more decifive in religious of the subject before us. The worst actions, the most contrary to abstract justice and utility, have frequently been done from the most conscientious motives. Clement, Ravaillac, Damiens and Gerard had their minds deeply penetrated with anxiety for the eternal

eternal welfare of mankind. For these objects they facrificed their ease, and chearfully exposed themselves to tortures and death. It was benevolence probably that contributed to light the fires of Smithfield, and point the daggers of Saint Bartholomew. The inventors of the Gunpowder Treason were in general men remarkable for the fanctity of their lives and the feverity of their manners. It is probable indeed, that some ambitious views, and fome fentiments of hatred and abhorrence mixed with the benevolence and integrity of these persons. It is probable that no wrong action was ever committed from views entirely pure. But the deception they put upon themselves might nevertheless be complete. At all events their opinions upon the subject could not alter the real nature of the action.

which it is performed.

The true folution of the question lies in observing, that the disposition with which an action is adopted is one thing, and the action itself another. A right action may be done from a wrong disposition; in that case we approve the action, but condemn the actor. A wrong action may be done from a right disposition; in that case we condemn the action, but approve the actor. If the disposition by which a man is governed have a systematical tendency to the benefit of his species, he cannot fail to obtain our esteem, however mistaken he may be in his conduct.

Farther dif-

But what shall we say to the duty of a man under these circumstances? Calvin, we will suppose, was clearly and conscientioufly

tiously persuaded that he ought to burn Servetus. Ought he to BOOK II. CHAP. III. have burned him or not? "If he burned him, he did an action detestable in its own nature; if he refrained, he acted in opposition to the best judgment of his own understanding as to a point of moral obligation." It is abfurd however to fay, that it was in any sense his duty to burn him. The most that can be admitted is, that his disposition was virtuous, and that in the circumstances in which he was placed an action greatly to be deplored flowed from that disposition by invincible necessity.

Shall we fay then that it was the duty of Calvin, who did not understand the principles of toleration, to act upon a truth of which he was ignorant? Suppose that a person is to be tried at York next week for murder, and that my evidence would acquit him. Shall we fay that it was my duty to go to York, though I knew nothing of the matter? Upon the same principles we might affirm that it is my duty to go from London to York in half an hour, as the trial will come on within that time; the impossibility not being more real in one case than in the other. Upon the same principles we might affirm, that it is my duty to be impeccable, omniscient and almighty.

Duty is a term the use of which seems to be to describe the mode Meaning of in which any being may best be employed for the general good. duty It is limited in its extent by the extent of the capacity of that being. Now capacity varies in its idea in proportion as we

102

BOOK II. vary our view of the subject to which it belongs. What I am capable of, if you confider me merely as a man, is one thing; what I am capable of as a man of a deformed figure, of weak understanding, of superstitious prejudices, or as the case may happen, is another. So much cannot be expected of me under these difadvantages, as if they were absent. But, if this be the true definition of duty, it is abfurd to suppose in any case that an action injurious to the general welfare can be classed in the rank of

To apply these observations to the cases that have been stated. Ignorance, fo far as it goes, completely annihilates capacity. As I was uninformed of the trial at York, I could not be influenced by any consideration respecting it. But it is absurd to say that it was my duty to neglect a motive with which I was unacquainted. If you alledge, " that Calvin was ignorant of the principles of toleration, and had no proper opportunity to learn them," it follows that in burning Servetus he did not violate his duty, but it does not follow that it was his duty to burn him. Upon the fupposition here stated duty is filent. Calvin was unacquainted with the principles of justice, and therefore could not practife them. The duty of no man can exceed his capacity; but then neither can in any case an act of injustice be of the nature of duty.

There are certain inferences that flow from this view of the fubject, which it may be proper to mention. Nothing is more common

common than for individuals and focieties of men to alledge that BOOK II. they have acted to the best of their judgment, that they have done their duty, and therefore that their conduct, even should it prove to be mistaken, is nevertheless virtuous. This appears to be an error. An action, though done with the best intention in the world, may have nothing in it of the nature of virtue. In reality the most essential part of virtue consists in the incesfantly feeking to inform ourselves more accurately upon the subject of utility and right. Whoever is greatly misinformed refpecting them, is indebted for his error to a defect in his philanthropy and zeal.

Secondly, fince absolute virtue may be out of the power of a human being, it becomes us in the mean time to lay the greatest stress upon a virtuous disposition, which is not attended with the fame ambiguity. A virtuous disposition is of the utmost confequence, fince it will in the majority of instances be productive of virtuous actions; fince it tends, in exact proportion to the quantity of virtue, to increase our discernment and improve our understanding; and fince, if it were universally propagated, it would immediately lead to the great end of virtuous actions, the purest and most exquisite happiness of intelligent beings. But a virtuous disposition is principally generated by the uncontrolled exercife of private judgment, and the rigid conformity of every man to the dictates of his conscience.

CHAP.

CHAP. IV.

OF THE EQUALITY OF MANKIND.

PHYSICAL EQUALITY.—OBJECTION.—ANSWERS.—MORAL EQUALITY.—HOW LIMITED.—PROVINCE OF POLITICAL JUSTICE.

BOOK II. CHAP. IV Physical HE equality of mankind is either physical or moral.

Their physical equality may be considered either as it relates to the strength of the body or the faculties of the mind.

Objection.

This part of the subject has been exposed to cavil and objection. It has been said, "that the reverse of this equality is the result of our experience. Among the individuals of our species we actually find that there are not two alike. One man is strong and another weak. One man is wise and another soolish. All that exists in the world of the inequality of conditions is to be traced to this as their source. The strong man possesses power to subdue, and the weak stands in need of an ally to protect. The consequence is inevitable: the equality of conditions is a chimerical assumption, neither possible to be reduced into practice, nor desirable if it could be so reduced."

3

Upon

Upon this statement two observations are to be made. First, this inequality was in its origin infinitely less than it is at present. In the uncultivated state of man diseases, esseminacy and luxury were little known, and of consequence the strength of every one much more nearly approached to the strength of his neighbour. In the uncultivated state of man the understandings of all were limited, their wants, their ideas and their views nearly upon a level. It was to be expected that in their sirst departure from this state great irregularities would introduce themselves; and it is the object of subsequent wisdom and improvement to mitigate these irregularities.

Secondly, notwithstanding the incroachments that have been made upon the equality of mankind, a great and substantial equality remains. There is no such disparity among the human race as to enable one man to hold several other men in subjection, except so far as they are willing to be subject. All government is founded in opinion. Men at present live under any particular form, because they conceive it their interest to do so. One part indeed of a community or empire may be held in subjection by force; but this cannot be the personal force of their despot; it must be the force of another part of the community, who are of opinion that it is their interest to support his authority. Destroy this opinion, and the fabric which is built upon it falls to the ground. It follows therefore that all men are essentially independent.—So much for the physical-equality.

P

The

воок и. CHAP. IV. Moral equali-

The moral equality is still less open to reasonable exception. By moral equality I understand the propriety of applying one unalterable rule of justice to every case that may arise. This cannot be questioned but upon arguments that would subvert the very nature of virtue. " Equality," it has been affirmed, " will always be an unintelligible fiction, fo long as the capacities of men shall be unequal, and their pretended claims have neither guarantee nor fanction by which they can be inforced *." But furely justice is sufficiently intelligible in its own nature, abftracted from the confideration whether it be or be not reduced into practice. Justice has relation to beings endowed with perception, and capable of pleasure and pain. Now it immediately refults from the nature of fuch beings, independently of any arbitrary constitution, that pleasure is agreeable and pain odious, pleafure to be defired and pain to be obviated. It is therefore just and reasonable that such beings should contribute, so far as it lies in their power, to the pleasure and benefit of each other. Among pleasures some are more exquisite, more unalloyed and less precarious than others. It is just that these should be preferred.

From these simple principles we may deduce the moral equality of mankind. We are partakers of a common nature,

* « On a dit-que nous avions tous les mêmes droits. Fignore ce que c'est que les mêmes droits, où il y a inégalité de talens ou de force, & nulle garantie, nulle fanction." Raynal, Revolution d'Amerique, p. 34-

and the same causes that contribute to the benefit of one contribute to the benefit of another. Our fenses and faculties are of the same denomination. Our pleasures and pains will therefore be the same. We are all of us endowed with reason, able to compare, to judge and to infer. The improvement therefore which is to be defired for the one is to be defired for the other. We shall be provident for ourselves and useful to each other, in proportion as we rife above the atmosphere of prejudice. The same independence, the same freedom from any such restraint, as should prevent us from giving the reins to our own understanding, or from uttering upon all occasions whatever we think to be true, will conduce to the improvement of all. There are certain opportunities and a certain fituation most advantageous to every human being, and it is just that the'e should be communicated to all, as nearly at least as the general economy will permit.

There is indeed one species of moral inequality parallel to the Howlimited. physical inequality that has been already described. The treatment to which men are entitled is to be measured by their merits and their virtues. That ccuntry would not be the feat of wisdom and reason, where the benefactor of his species was confidered in the same point of view as their enemy. But in reality this distinction, so far from being adverse to equality in any tenable fense, is friendly to it, and is accordingly known by the appellation of equity, a term derived from the fame origin. Though in some sense an exception, it tends to the same

P 2

purpofe

[109]

BOOK II. purpose to which the principle itself is indebted for its value. It is calculated to infuse into every bosom an emulation of excellence. The thing really to be defired is the removing as much as possible arbitrary distinctions, and leaving to talents and virtue the field of exertion unimpaired. We should endeavour to afford to all the same opportunities and the same encouragement, and to render justice the common interest and choice.

RIGHTS OF MAN.

THE QUESTION STATED .- FOUNDATION OF SOCIETY .- OP-POSITE RIGHTS IMPOSSIBLE.—CONCLUSION FROM THESE PREMISES. - DISCRETION CONSIDERED. - RIGHTS OF KINGS.—IMMORAL CONSEQUENCES OF THE DOCTRINE OF RIGHTS.—RIGHTS OF COMMUNITIES.—OBJECTIONS: I. THE RIGHT OF MUTUAL AID. - EXPLANATION. - ORI-GIN OF THE TERM, RIGHT .- 2. RIGHTS OF PRIVATE JUDG-MENT AND OF THE PRESS .- EXPLANATION .- REASONS OF THIS LIMITATION UPON THE FUNCTIONS OF THE COMMUNITY: I. THE INUTILITY OF ATTEMPTING RE-STRAINT .-- 2. ITS PERNICIOUS TENDENCY .-- CONCLU-SION.

HERE is no subject that has been discussed with more BOOK II. eagerness and pertinacity than the rights of man. Has he
The question any rights, or has he none? Much may plaufibly be alledged on flated. both fides of this question; and in the conclusion those reasoners appear to express themselves with the greatest accuracy who embrace the negative. There is nothing that has been of greater differvice to the cause of truth, than the hasty and unguarded manner in which its advocates have fometimes defended it: and

CHAP.

BOOK II. it will be admitted to be peculiarly unfortunate, if the advocates on one fide of this question should be found to have the greatest quantity of truth, while their adversaries have expressed themfelves in a manner more consonant to reason and the nature of things. Where the question has been so extremely darkened by an ambiguous use of terms, it may at any rate be desirable to try, whether, by a patient and fevere investigation of the first principles of political fociety, it may be placed in a light confiderably different from the views of both parties.

Foundation

Political fociety, as has already been observed, is founded in the principles of morality and justice. It is impossible for intellectual beings to be brought into coalition and intercourse, with out a certain mode of conduct, adapted to their nature and connection, immediately becoming a duty incumbent on the parties concerned. Men would never have affociated, if they had not imagined that in consequence of that association they would mutually conduce to the advantage and happiness of each other. This is the real purpose, the genuine basis of their intercourse; and, as far as this purpole is answered, so far does society answer the end of its institution.

There is only one postulate more, that is necessary to bring us to a conclusive mode of reasoning upon this subject. Whatever is meant by the term right, for it will prefently appear that the sense of the term itself has never been clearly understood,

there can neither be opposite rights, nor rights and duties hostile to each other. The rights of one man cannot clash with or be destructive of the rights of another; for this, instead of rendering the fubject an important branch of truth and morality, as the advocates of the rights of man certainly understand it to be, would be to reduce it to a heap of unintelligible jargon and inconfistency. If one man have a right to be free, another man cannot have a right to make him a flave; if one man have. a right to inflict chastisement upon me, I cannot have a right to withdraw myself from chastisement; if my neighbour have a right to a sum of money in my possession, I cannot have a right to retain it in my pocket.—It cannot be less incontrovertible, that I have no right to omit what my duty prescribes.

From hence it inevitably follows that men have no rights. Conclusion By right, as the word is employed in this subject, has always premises, been understood discretion, that is, a full and complete power of either doing a thing or omitting it, without the person's becoming liable to animadversion or censure from another, that is, in other words, without his incurring any degree of turpitude or guilt. Now in this fense I affirm that man has no rights, no discretionary. power whatever.

It is commonly faid, "that a man has a right to the disposal Discretion of his fortune, a right to the employment of his time, a right to the uncontrolled choice of his profession or pursuits." But this

BOOK II. can never be confiftently affirmed till it can be shewn that he has no duties, prescribing and limiting his mode of proceeding in all these respects. My neighbour has just as much right to put an end to my existence with dagger or poison, as to deny me that pecuniary affistance without which I must starve, or as to deny me that affistance without which my intellectual attainments or my moral exertions will be materially injured. He has just as much right to amuse himself with burning my house or torturing my children upon the rack, as to shut himself up in a cell careless about his fellow men, and to hide "his talent in a napkin."

> If men have any rights, any discretionary powers, they must be in things of total indifference, as whether I fit on the right or on the left fide of my fire, or dine on beef to day or tomorrow. Even these rights are much fewer than we are apt to imagine, fince before they can be completely established, it must be proved that my choice on one fide or the other can in no possible way contribute to the benefit or injury of myself or of any other person in the world. Those must indeed be rights well worth the contending for, the very effence of which confists in their absolute nugatoriness and inutility.

In reality nothing can appear more wonderful to a careful enquirer, than that two ideas fo incompatible as man and rights should ever have been affociated together. Certain it is, that one of them must be utterly exclusive and annihilatory of the other. Before we ascribe rights to man, we must conceive of him as a being endowed with intellect, and capable of difcerning the differences and tendencies of things. But a being endowed with intellect, and capable of difcerning the differences and tendencies of things, instantly becomes a moral being, and has duties incumbent on him to discharge: and duties and rights, as has already been shewn, are absolutely exclusive of each other.

It has been affirmed by the zealous advocates of liberty, " that Rights of princes and magistrates have no rights;" and no position can be more incontrovertible. There is no fituation of their lives that has not its correspondent duties. There is no power intrusted to them that they are not bound to exercise exclusively for the public good. It is strange that persons adopting this principle did not go a step farther, and perceive that the same restrictions were applicable to subjects and citizens.

a your got a little give of governor a given it.

Nor is the fallacy of this language more conspicuous than its Immoral immoral tendency. To this inaccurate and unjust use of the of the docferm right we owe it, that the mifer, who accumulates to no end rights. that which diffused would have conduced to the welfare of thoufands, that the luxurious man, who wallows in indulgence and fees numerous families around him pining in beggary, never fail to tell us of their rights, and to filence animadversion and quiet the censure of their own mind by reminding us, "that they

came

of

BOOK II.

came fairly into possession of their wealth, that they owe no debts, and that of consequence no man has authority to enquire into their private manner of disposing of that which is their own." A great majority of mankind are conscious that they stand in need of this fort of defence, and are therefore very ready. to combine against the insolent intruder, who ventures to enquire into " things that do not concern him." They forget, that the wife man and the honest man, the friend of his country and his kind, is concerned for every thing by which they may be affected, and carries about with him a diploma, constituting him inquisitor general of the moral conduct of his neighbours, with a duty annexed to recal them to virtue, by every lesson that truth can enable him to read, and every punishment that plain speaking is competent to inflict.

Rights of

It is scarcely necessary to add, that, if individuals have no rights, neither has fociety, which possesses nothing but what individuals have brought into a common stock. The absurdity of the common opinion, as applied to this subject, is still more glaring, if possible, than in the view in which we have already confidered it. According to the usual fentiment every club assembling for any civil purpole, every congregation of religionists affembling for the worship of God, has a right to establish any provisions or ceremonies, no matter how ridiculous or detestable, provided they do not interfere with the freedom of others. Reafon lies prostrate under their feet. They have a right to trample

upon and infult her as they please. It is in the same spirit we have been told that every nation has a right to choose its form of government. A most acute, original and inestimable author was probably misled by the vulgar phraseology on this fubject, when he afferted, that, " at a time when neither the people of France nor the national affembly were troubling themselves about the affairs of England or the English parliament, Mr. Burke's conduct was unpardonable in commencing an unprovoked attack upon them *."

RIGHTS OF MAN

There are various objections that fuggest themselves to the Objections. theory which subverts the rights of men; and if the theory be true, they will probably appear in the result to be so far from really hostile to it, as to be found more fairly deducible from and confistent with its principles, than with any of those with which they have inadvertently been connected.

In the first place it has sometimes been alledged, and seems to 1. The rights refult from the reasonings already adduced under the head of justice, that "men have a right to the affistance and co-operation of their fellows in every honest pursuit." But, when we affert Explanation. this proposition, we mean something by the word right exceedingly different from what is commonly understood by the term. We do not understand something discretionary, which, if not voluntarily fulfilled, cannot be confidered as a matter of claim.

* Rights of Man, page 1.

On

116

BOOK II. On the contrary every thing adduced upon that occasion was calculated to shew that it was a matter of strict claim; and perhaps fomething would be gained with respect to perspicuity, if we rather chose to distinguish it by that appellation, than by a name fo much abused, and so ambiguous in its application, as the term right.

Origin of the

The true origin of this latter term is relative to the present state of political government, in which many of those actions which moral duty most strictly enjoins us are in no degree brought within the sphere of legislative fanction. Men uninfluenced by comprehensive principles of justice, commit every species of intemperance, are felfish, hard-hearted, licentious and cruel, and maintain their right to all these caprices, because the laws of their country are filent with regard to them. Philosophers and political enquirers have too frequently adopted the same principles with a certain degree of accommodation; though in fact men have no more right to these erroneous propensities in their most qualified sense, than they had to them originally in all their extravagance. It is true, that, under the forms of fociety now existing in the world, intemperance and the caprices of personal intercourse too frequently escape without animadversion. But in a more perfect form, though they may not fall under the cognifance of law, the offender will probably be fo unequivocally reminded by the fincerity of his neighbours of the error he has RIGHTS OF MAN.

committed, as to be in no danger of running away with the opinion that he had a right to commit it.

A fecond and more important objection to the doctrine I am 2. Rights of maintaining is derived from the rights as they are called of private judgment, and the liberty of the press. But it may easily be shewn, that these, no more than the articles already mentioned are rights of discretion. If they were, they would prove, that a man was strictly justifiable in publishing what he believed to be pernicious or false, and that it was a matter of perfect moral indifference whether he conformed to the religious rites of Confucius, of Mahomet, or of Christ. The political freedom of Explanation conscience and of the press, so far from being as it is commonly supposed an extension, is a new case of the limitation of rights and discretion. Conscience and the press ought to be unrestrained, not because men have a right to deviate from the exact line that duty prescribes, but because society, the aggregate of individuals, has no right to assume the prerogative of an infallible judge, and to undertake authoritatively to prescribe to its members in matters of pure speculation.

One obvious reason against this assumption on the part of the Reasons of fociety is the impossibility by any compulsatory method of bring-tion upon the ing men to uniformity of opinion. The judgment we form upon the commutopics of general truth, is or is imagined to be founded upon ... The inuevidence: and, however it may be foothed by gentle applications tempting re-

BOOK II. CHAP.V.

to the betraying its impartiality, it is apt to repel with no little pertinacity whatever comes under the form of compulsion. Perfecution cannot persuade the understanding, even when it subdues our resolution. It may make us hypocrites; but cannot make us converts. The government therefore, which is anxious above all things to imbue its subjects with integrity and virtue, will be the farthest in the world from discouraging them in the explicit avowal of their sentiments.

2. Its pernicious tendency.

But there is another reason of a higher order. Man is not, as has been already shewn, a perfect being, but perfectible. No government, that has yet existed, or is likely presently to exist upon the face of the earth, is faultless. No government ought therefore pertinaciously to refift the change of its own institutions; and still less ought it to set up a standard upon the various topics of human speculation, to restrain the excursions of an inventive mind. It is only by giving a free scope to these excursions, that science, philosophy and morals have arrived at their present degree of perfection, or are capable of going on to that still greater perfection, in comparison of which all that has been already done will perhaps appear childish. But a proceeding, absolutely necessary for the purpose of exciting the mind to these falutary excursions, and still more necessary in order to give them their proper operation, confifts in the unrestrained communication of men's thoughts and discoveries to each other. If every man have to begin again at the point from which his neighbour set out, the labour will be endless, and the progress in an unvarying circle. There is nothing that more eminently contributes to intellectual energy, than for every man to be habituated to follow without alarm the train of his speculations, and to utter without fear the conclusions that have suggested themfelves to him.—But does all this imply that men have a right to act any thing but virtue, and to utter any thing but truth? Certainly not. It implies indeed that there are points with which society has no right to interfere, not that discretion and caprice are more free, or duty less strict upon these points, than upon any others with which human action is conversant.

CHAT

CHAP. VI.

OF THE EXERCISE OF PRIVATE JUDGMENT.

FOUNDATION OF VIRTUE. - HUMAN ACTIONS REGULATED: I. BY THE NATURE OF THINGS. -2. BY POSITIVE INSTI-TUTION .- TENDENCY OF THE LATTER: 1. TO EXCITE VIRTUE.—ITS EQUIVOCAL CHARACTER IN THIS RESPECT. -2. TO INFORM THE JUDGMENT. -ITS INAPTITUDE FOR THAT PURPOSE.—PROVINCE OF CONSCIENCE CONSIDERED. TENDENCY OF AN INTERFERENCE WITH THAT PROVINCE. -RECAPITULATION. -- ARGUMENTS IN FAVOUR OF POSI-TIVE INSTITUTION: I. THE NECESSITY OF REPELLING PRI-VATE INJUSTICE. - OBJECTIONS: THE UNCERTAINTY OF EVIDENCE. THE DIVERSITY OF MOTIVES. THE UNSUIT-ABLENESS OF THE MEANS OF CORRECTION—EITHER TO IMPRESS NEW SENTIMENTS-OR TO STRENGTHEN OLD ONES .- PUNISHMENT FOR THE SAKE OF EXAMPLE CON-SIDERED .- URGENCY OF THE CASE .- 2. REBELLION .-3. WAR.—OBJECTIONS.—REPLY.

BOOK II. / CHAP. VI.

O a rational being there can be but one rule of conduct, justice, and one mode of ascertaining that rule, the exercise of his understanding. If in any instance I be made the mechanical instrument of absolute violence, in that instance I fall under

under no description of moral conduct either good or bad. But, BOOK II. if, not being operated upon by absolute compulsion, I be wholly prompted by fomething that is frequently called by that name, and act from the hope of reward or the fear of punishment, my conduct is positively wrong.

Here however a distinction is to be made. Justice, as it was defined in a preceding chapter, is coincident with utility. I am myself a part of the great whole, and my happiness is a part of that complex view of things by which justice is regulated. The hope of reward therefore and the fear of punishment, confined within certain strict limits, are motives that ought to have influence with my mind.

There are two descriptions of tendency that may belong to Human acany action, the tendency which it possesses by the necessary and gulated, universal laws of existence, and the tendency which results from ture of the positive interference of some intelligent being. The nature of happiness and misery, pleasure and pain, is independent of all positive institution: that is, it is immutably true that whatever tends to procure a balance of the former is to be defired, and whatever tends to procure a balance of the latter is to be rejected. In like manner the promulgation of virtue, truth and political justice must always be right. There is perhaps no action of a rational being that has not fome tendency to promote these objects, and consequently that has not a moral character founded in the abstract nature of things.

The

BOOK II. CHAP. VI. 2. By positive inflitution. Tendency of the latter.

The tendency of positive institution is of two sorts, to furnish me with an additional motive to the practice of virtue or right, and to inform my understanding as to what actions are right and what actions are wrong. Much cannot be faid in commendation of either of these tendencies.

1. To excite Its couivocal character in this re-

First, positive institution may furnish me with an additional motive to the practice of virtue. I have an opportunity of contributing very essentially to the advantage of twenty individuals; they will be benefited, and no other persons will sustain a material injury. I ought to embrace this opportunity. Here let us suppose positive institution to interfere, and to annex some great personal reward to myself to the performance of my duty. This immediately changes the nature of the action. Before I preferred it for its intrinsic excellence. Now, so far as the pofitive inftitution operates, I prefer it, because some person has arbitrarily annexed to it a great weight of self-interest. But virtue, considered as the quality of an intelligent being, depends upon the disposition with which the action is accompanied. Under a positive institution then this very action, which is intrinfically virtuous, may, fo far as relates to the agent, become vicious. The vicious man would before have neglected the advantage of these twenty individuals, because he would not bring a certain inconvenience or trouble upon himself. The same man with the same disposition will now promote their advantage, because his own welfare is concerned in it. Twenty, other things

equal, is twenty times better than one. He that is not governed BOOK II. CHAP. VI. by the moral arithmetic of the case, or who acts from a dispofition directly at war with that arithmetic, is unjust. In other words, morality requires that we should be attentive only to the tendency which belongs to any action by the necessary and univerial laws of existence. This is what is meant by the principle, "that we should do good, regardless of the consequences;" and by that other, "that we may not do evil, from the prospect of good to refult from it." The case would have been rendered still more glaring, if, instead of the welfare of twenty, we had supposed the welfare of millions to have been concerned. In reality, whether the disparity be great or small, the inference ought to be the same.

Secondly, positive institution may inform my understanding 2. To inform as to what actions are right and what actions are wrong. Here ment. it is proper for us to reflect upon the terms understanding and for that purinformation. Understanding, particularly as it is concerned with moral subjects, is the percipient of truth. This is its proper fphere. Information, so far as it is genuine, is a portion detached from the great body of truth. You inform me, "that Euclid afferts the three angles of a plane triangle to be equal to two right angles." Still I am unacquainted with the truth of this propofition. "But Euclid has demonstrated it. His demonstration has existed for two thousand years, and during that term has proved fatisfactory to every man by whom it has been understood."

I am

I am nevertheless uninformed. The knowledge of truth lies in the perceived agreement or disagreement of the terms of a proposition. So long as I am unacquainted with the middle term by means of which they may be compared, so long as they are incommensurate to my understanding, you may have furnished me with a principle from which I may reason truly to farther consequences, but as to the principle itself I may strictly be said to know nothing about it.

Every proposition has an intrinsic evidence of its own. Every consequence has premises from which it flows; and upon them, and not upon any thing elfe, its validity depends. If you could work a miracle to prove," that the three angles of a triangle were equal to two right angles," I should still know, that the proposition was either true or false previously to the exhibition of that miracle; and that there was no necessary connection between any one of its terms and the miracle exhibited. The miracle would take off my attention from the true question to a question altogether different, that of authority. By the authority adduced I might be prevailed on to yield an irregular affent to the proposition; but I could not properly be said to perceive its truth.

But this is not all. If it were, it might perhaps be regarded as a refinement foreign to the concerns of human life. Politive institutions do not content themselves with requiring my assent to certain propositions, in consideration of the respectable testimony by which they are inforced. This would amount to no more, than advice flowing from a respectable quarter, which after all I might reject, if it did not accord with the mature judgment of my own understanding. But in the very nature of these institutions there is included a fanction, a motive either of punishment or reward to induce me to obedience.

It is commonly faid, "that positive institutions ought to leave Province of me perfectly free in matters of conscience, but may properly in- considered. terfere with my conduct in civil concerns." But this distinction feems to have been very lightly taken up. What fort of moralist must he be, who makes no conscience of what passes in his intercourse with other men? Such a distinction proceeds upon the supposition, "that it is of great consequence whether I bow to the east or the west; whether I call the object of my worship Jehovah or Alla; whether I pay a priest in a surplice or a black coat. These are points in which an honest man ought to be rigid and inflexible. But as to those other, whether he shall be a tyrant, a flave or a free citizen; whether he shall bind himself with multiplied oaths impossible to be performed, or be a rigid observer of truth; whether he shall swear allegiance to a king de jure or a king de facto, to the best or the worst of all possible governments; respecting these points he may safely commit his conscience to the keeping of the civil magistrate." In reality there are perhaps no concerns of a rational being, over which

BOOK II.

morality does not extend its province, and respecting which he is not bound to a conscientious proceeding.

Tendency of an interference with that province.

I am satisfied at present, that a certain conduct, suppose it be a rigid attention to the confidence of private conversation, is incumbent upon me. You tell me, " there are certain cases of fuch peculiar emergency as to superfede this rule." Perhaps I think there are not. If I admit your proposition, a wide field of enquiry is opened, respecting what cases do or do not deserve to be considered as exceptions. It is little likely that we should agree respecting all these cases. How then does the law treat me, for my conscientious discharge of what I conceive to be my duty? Because I will not turn informer (which, it may be, I think an infamous character) against my most valued friend, the law accuses me of misprision of treason, selony or murder, and perhaps hangs me. I believe a certain individual to be a confirmed villain, and a most dangerous member of society, and feel it to be my duty to warn others, perhaps the public, against the effect of his vices. Because I publish what I know to be true, the law convicts me of libel, fcandalum magnatum, and crimes of I know not what complicated denomination.

If the evil stopped here, it would be well. If I only suffered a certain calamity, suppose death, I could endure it. Death has hitherto been the common lot of men, and I expect at some time or other to submit to it. Human society must sooner or later

be deprived of its individual members, whether they be valuable, or whether they be inconfiderable. But the punishment acts not only retrospectively upon me, but prospectively upon my contemporaries and countrymen. My neighbour entertains the same opinion respecting the conduct he ought to hold as I did. But the executioner of public justice interposes with a powerful argument, to convince him that he has mistaken the path of abstract rectitude.

What fort of converts will be produced by this unfeeling logic? "I have deeply reflected," suppose, "upon the nature of virtue, and am convinced that a certain proceeding is incumbent on me. But the hangman, supported by an act of parliament, assures me I am mistaken." If I yield my opinion to his dictum, my action becomes modified, and my character too. An influence like this is inconsistent with all generous magnanimity of spirit, all ardent impartiality in the discovery of truth, and all inflexible perseverance in its affertion. Countries, exposed to the perpetual interference of decrees instead of arguments, exhibit within their boundaries the mere phantoms of men. We can never judge from an observation of their inhabitants what men would be, if they knew of no appeal from the tribunal of conscience, and if, whatever they thought, they dared to speak, and dared to act.

At present there will perhaps occur to the majority of readers but

BOOK II. but few instances of laws, which may be supposed to interfere with the conscientious discharge of duty. A considerable number will occur in the course of the present enquiry. More would readily offer themselves to a patient research. Men are so successfully reduced to a common standard by the operation of pofitive law, that in most countries they are capable of little more than like parrots repeating each other. This uniformity is capable of being produced in two ways, by energy of mind and indefatigableness of enquiry, enabling a considerable number to penetrate with equal fuccess into the recesses of truth; and by pufillanimity of temper and a frigid indifference to right and wrong, produced by the penalties which are suspended over such as shall disinterestedly enquire, and communicate and act upon the result of their enquiries. It is easy to perceive which of these is the cause of the uniformity that prevails in the present instance.

If there be any truth more unquestionable than the rest, it is, that every man is bound to the exertion of his faculties in the discovery of right, and to the carrying into effect all the right with which he is acquainted. It may be granted that an infallible standard, if it could be discovered, would be considerably beneficial. But this infallible standard itself would be of little use in human affairs, unless it had the property of reasoning as well as deciding, of enlightening the mind as well as constraining the body. If a man be in some cases obliged to prefer his own

judgment, he is in all cases obliged to consult that judgment, before he can determine whether the matter in question be of the fort provided for or no. So that from this reasoning it ultimately appears, that no man is obliged to conform to any rule of conduct, farther than the rule is confistent with justice.

Such are the genuine principles of human fociety. Such Arguments in favour of would be the unconstrained concord of its members, in a state positive in-stitution: where every individual within the fociety, and every neighbour without, was capable of listening with sobriety to the dictates of reason. We shall not fail to be impressed with considerable regret, if, when we descend to the present mixed characters of mankind, we find ourselves obliged in any degree to depart from fo fimple and grand a principle. The universal exercise of private judgment is a doctrine fo unspeakably beautiful, that the true politician will certainly resolve to interfere with it as sparingly and in as few inflances as possible. Let us consider what are the emergencies that may be thought to demand an exception. They can only be briefly stated in this place, each of them requiring to be minutely examined in the subsequent stages of the enquiry.

In the first place then it seems necessary for some powerful 1. The necessary arbitrator to interfere, where the proceedings of the individual ling pri threaten the most injurious consequences to his neighbours, and where the instant nature of the case will not accord with the

uncertain

130

BOOK II. uncertain progress of argument and conviction addressed to the mind of the offender. A man, suppose, has committed murder, or, to make the case more aggravated, several murders; and, having thus far over-stepped all those boundaries of innocence and guilt which restrain the generality of men, it is to be prefumed from analogy that he may be led to the commission of other murders. At first it may appear to be no great infringement upon the exercise of private judgment, to put it under some degree of restraint, when it leads to the commission of atrocious crimes. There are however certain difficulties in the case which

are worthy to be considered.

Objections:

above stated, our next concern will be with the evidence, which shall lead to the acquittal or conviction of the person accused. Now it is well known, that no principles of evidence have yet been laid down that are infallible. Human affairs univerfally proceed upon prefumption and probability. An eye-witness must identify the person of the offender, and in this he may be miftaken. We must necessarily be contented with presumptive proofs of his intention; and often are or imagine ourselves to be obliged to admit prefumptive evidence of the fact itself. The confequence is inevitable. And furely it is no trivial evil, to subject an innocent man eventually, to the public award and the esta-

blished punishment annexed to the most atrocious crimes.

First, as soon as we admit the propriety of a rule such as that

tainty of evi-

Secondly,

Secondly, the fame external action will admit of every polfible shade of virtue or vice. One man shall commit murder, to remove a troublesome observer of his depraved dispositions, who of motives: will otherwise counteract and expose him to the world. A fecond, because he cannot bear the ingenuous fincerity with which he is told of his vices. A third, from his intolerable envy of fuperior merit. A fourth, because he knows his adversary meditates an act pregnant with extensive mischief, and he perceives no other mode by which its perpetration can be prevented. A fifth, in the actual defence of his father's life or his daughter's chastity. Each of these men, except perhaps the last, may act either from momentary impulse, or from any of the infinite shades and degrees of deliberation. Would you award one individual punishment to all these varieties of action? Can you pretend in each instance to ascertain the exact quantity of wrong, equivalent to each? Strictly speaking no two men were ever guilty of the fame crime; but here comes in politive law with its Procrustes's bed, and levels all characters, and tramples upon all distinctions.

Thirdly, punishment is not the appropriate mode of correct- the unfuiting the errors of mankind. It will probably be admitted, that the means of the only true end of punishment is correction. That question will be discussed in another part of the present enquiry. "I have done fomething, which though wrong in itself, I believe to be right; or I have done fomething which I usually admit to be

wrong

132

wrong; but my conviction upon the subject is not so clear and forcible, as to prevent my yielding to a powerful temptation." There can be no doubt, that the proper way of conveying to my understanding a truth of which I am ignorant, or of impressing upon me a firmer persuasion of a truth with which I am acquainted, is by an appeal to my reason. Even an angry expostulation with me upon my conduct will but excite fimilar paffions in me, and cloud instead of illuminate my understanding. There is certainly a way of expressing truth, with such benevolence as to command attention, and fuch evidence as to inforce conviction in all cases whatever,

either to imprefs new fentiments:

Punishment inevitably excites in the sufferer, and ought to excite, a fense of injustice. Let its purpose be to convince me of the truth of a proposition, which I at present believe to be false. It is not abstractedly considered of the nature of an argument, and therefore it cannot begin with producing conviction. Punishment is a specious name, but is in reality nothing more than force put upon one being by another who happens to be stronger. Now strength apparently does not constitute justice, nor ought " might," according to a trite proverb, to " overcome right." The case of punishment, which we are now considering, is the case of you and I differing in opinion, and your telling me that you must be right, fince you have a more brawny arm, or have applied your mind more to the acquiring skill in your weapons than I have. But

But let us suppose, "that I am convinced of my error, but BOOK II. CHAP. VI. that my conviction is superficial and sluctuating, and the object ortostrengthyou propole is to render it durable and profound." Ought it to en old ones. be thus durable and profound? There are no doubt arguments and reasons calculated to render it so. Is it in reality problema_ tical, and do you wish by the weight of your blows to make up for the deficiency of your logic? This can never be defended. An appeal to force must appear to both parties, in proportion to the foundness of their understanding, to be a confession of imbecility. He that has recourse to it, would have no occasion for this expedient, if he were sufficiently acquainted with the powers of that truth it is his office to communicate. If there be any man, who, in fuffering punishment, is not conscious of injuffice, he must have had his mind previously debased by flavery, and his fense of moral right and wrong blunted by a feries of oppression.

The case is not altered for the better, if I suffer punishment, Punishment: not for my own correction, but for an example to others. Upon of example this supposition a new difficulty is introduced, respecting the propriety of one man's being subjected to pain, for the sake of improving the character and eradicating the vices of another. The fuffering is here also involuntary. Now, though will cannot alter the nature of justice, it must be admitted that the voluntary fufferer has at least one advantage over the involuntary, in the conscious liberality of his purpose. He that suffers, not for his

own correction, but for the advantage of others, stands, fo far as relates to that fuffering, in the fituation of an innocent person. If the fuffering had relation to him personally as a vicious or impersect character, it must have relation to him in respect either to the past or the future. It cannot have relation to him as to the past, for that is concluded and beyond the reach of alteration or remedy. By the supposition it has not relation to him

It ought to be observed in this place, that by innocence I do not understand virtue. Innocence is a fort of neutral character, and stands in the mid way between good and harm. Undoubtedly it were better, that a person useless to society should be destroyed than a man of eminent worth, and a person likely to prove injurious than either. I fay likely to prove injurious; for the fault already committed, being irrevocable, ought not to enter into the account, and we have nothing to do but with the probability of its repetition. It is in this fense that the sufferer stands upon a level with many of those persons, who are usually denominated innocent.

It must also be allowed, that there are cases in which it is proper that innocent men should suffer for the public good. But this is a question of a very delicate nature, and the severe moralist will be very reluctant to condemn that man to die for the benesit of others, who is desirous to live.

OF PRIVATE JUDGMENT.

As to every other circumstance in the case of him who is BOOK II. punished for an example to others, it remains precisely the same as when we supposed him to be punished for his own reformation. It is still an argument of the most exceptionable nature employed to correct the opinions of mankind. It is still a menace of violence made use of to persuade them of the truth or falshood of a proposition. It has little chance of making them wife, and can fcarcely fail of making them timid, diffembling and corrupt.

Notwithstanding all these objections, it would be difficult to Urgency of find a country, respecting which we could say, that the inhabitants might with fafety be dismissed from the operation of punishment. So mixed is human character, so wild are its excursions, fo calamitous and detestable are the errors into which it occafionally falls, that fomething more than argument feems necessary for their suppression. Human beings are such tyros in the art of reasoning, that the wifest of us often prove impotent in our attempts, where an inftant effect was most powerfully wanted. While I stand still to reason with the thief, the assassin or the oppressor, they hasten to new scenes of devastation, and with unfparing violence confound all the principles of human fociety. I should obtain little success by the abolition of punishment, unless I could at the same time abolish those causes that generate temptation and make punishment necessary. Meanwhile the arguments already adduced may be sufficient to shew that punish-

ment:

but to others as to the future.

ment is always an evil, and to perfuade us never to recur to it but from the most evident necessity.

2. Rebellion.

3. War.

Objections.

The remaining cases in which it may seem requisite to have recourse to the general will of the society, and to supersede the private judgment of individuals, are, when we are called upon to counteract the hostilities of an internal enemy, or to repel the attacks of a foreign invader. Here as in the former instance the evils that arise from an usurpation upon private judgment are many and various. It is wrong that I should contribute in any mode to a proceeding, a war for example, that I believe to be unjust. Ought I to draw my fword, when the adversary appears to me to be employed in repelling a wanton aggression? The case seems not to be at all different, if I contribute my property, the produce it may be of my personal labour; though custom has reconciled us to the one rather than the other.

The consequences are a degradation of character and a relaxation of principle, in the person who is thus made the instrument of a transaction, which his judgment disapproves. In this case, as has been already stated generally, the human mind is compressed and unnerved, till it affords us scarcely the semblance of what it might otherwise have been. And, in addition to the general considerations in similar cases, it may be observed, that the frequent and obstinate wars which at present desolate the human

human race would be nearly extirpated, if they were supported BOOK II. only by the voluntary contributions of those by whom their principle was approved.

OF PRIVATE JUDGMENT.

The objection, which has hitherto been permitted practically Reply. to fuperfede these reasonings, is the difficulty of conducting an affair, in the fuccess of which millions may be interested, upon fo precarious a fupport as that of private judgment. The men, with whom we are usually concerned in human society, are of so mixed a character, and a felf-love of the narrowest kind is so deeply rooted in many of them, that it feems nearly unavoidable upon the scheme of voluntary contribution, that the most generous would pay a very ample proportion, while the mean and avaricious, though they contributed nothing, would come in for their full share of the benefit. He that would reconcile a perfect freedom in this respect with the interest of the whole, ought to propose at the same time the means of extirpating selfishness and vice. How far fuch a proposal is feasible will come hereafter to be considered.

AN

CONCERNING

POLITICAL JUSTICE.

BOOK III.

PRINCIPLES OF GOVERNMENT.

CHAP. I.

SYSTEMS OF POLITICAL WRITERS.

THE QUESTION STATED .- FIRST HYPOTHESIS: GOVERN-MENT FOUNDED IN SUPERIOR STRENGTH .- SECOND HY-POTHESIS: GOVERNMENT JURE DIVINO. THIRD HYPO-THESIS: THE SOCIAL CONTRACT.—THE FIRST HYPOTHE-SIS EXAMINED. THE SECOND—CRITERION OF DIVINE RIGHT: I. PATRIARCHAL DESCENT-2. JUSTICE.

Thas appeared in the course of our reasonings upon the nature of society, that there are occasions in which it may be necessary, to supersede private judgment for the sake of public flated.

The question stated.

good, and to control the acts of the individual by an act to be performed in the name of the whole. It is therefore an interesting enquiry to ascertain in what manner such acts are to be originated, or in other words to ascertain the foundation of political government.

First hypothelis : go founded in

There are three hypotheses that have been principally maintained upon this subject. First, the system of force, according to which it is affirmed, " that, inafmuch as it is necessary that the great mass of mankind should be held under the subjection of compulsory restraint, there can be no other criterion of that restraint, than the power of the individuals who lay claim to its exercise, the foundation of which power exists in the unequal degrees, in which corporal strength and intellectual fagacity are distributed among mankind."

Second hypo-

There is a second class of reasoners, who deduce the origin of all government from divine right, and affirm, " that, as men derived their existence from an infinite creator at first, so are they still subject to his providential care, and of consequence owe allegiance to their civil governors, as to a power which he has thought fit to fet over them."

Third hypothesis: the focial con-

The third fystem is that which has been most usually maintained by the friends of equality and justice; the fystem according to which the individuals of any fociety are supposed to have entered

entered into a contract with their governors or with each other, BOOK III. and which founds the rights of government in the confent of the governed.

The two first of these hypotheses may easily be dismissed. The first hy-That of force appears to proceed upon the total negation of abstract and immutable justice, affirming every government to be right, that is possessed of power sufficient to inforce its decrees. It puts a violent termination upon all political science; and feems intended to perfuade men, to fit down quietly under their present disadvantages, whatever they may be, and not exert themfelves to discover a remedy for the evils they suffer. The second The second hypothesis is of an equivocal nature. It either coincides with the first, and affirms all existing power to be alike of divine derivation; or it must remain totally useless till a criterion can be found, to diftinguish those governments which are approved by God, from those which cannot lay claim to that fanction. The Criterion of criterion of patriarchal descent will be of no avail, till the true 1. Patriarchal claimant and rightful heir can be discovered. If we make utility 2. Justice. and justice the test of God's approbation, this hypothesis will be liable to little objection; but then on the other hand little will be gained by it, fince those who have not introduced divine right into the argument, will yet readily grant, that a government which can be shewn to be agreeable to utility and justice, is a rightful government.

SYSTEMS OF POLITICAL WRITERS.

BOOK III.

The third hypothesis demands a more careful examination. If any error have infinuated itself into the support of truth, it becomes of particular consequence to detect it. Nothing can be of more importance, than to separate prejudice and mistake on the one hand, from reason and demonstration on the other. Whereever they have been confounded, the cause of truth must necesfarily be a sufferer. That cause, so far from being injured by the dissolution of the unnatural alliance, may be expected to derive from that dissolution an eminent degree of prosperity and lustre.

G H A P. II.

OF THE SOCIAL CONTRACT.

QUERIES PROPOSED. - WHO ARE THE CONTRACTING PAR-TIES ?-WHAT IS THE FORM OF ENGAGEMENT ?-OVER HOW LONG A PERIOD DOES THE CONTRACT EXTEND?-TO HOW GREAT A VARIETY OF PROPOSITIONS?—CAN IT EXTEND TO LAWS HEREAFTER TO BE MADE?—ADDRESSES OF ADHESION CONSIDERED .- POWER OF A MAJORITY.

TPON the first statement of the system of a social contract BOOK III. various difficulties present themselves. Who are the parties to this contract? For whom did they consent, for themselves poled. only or for others? For how long a time is this contract to be confidered as binding? If the confent of every individual be necessary, in what manner is that consent to be given? Is it to be tacit, or declared in express terms?

Little will be gained for the cause of equality and justice, if Who are the our ancestors, at the first institution of government, had a right parties? indeed of choosing the system of regulations under which they thought proper to live, but at the fame time could barter away the understandings and independence of all that came after them

CHAP.

BOOK III. to the latest posterity. But, if the contract must be renewed in each successive generation, what periods must be fixed on for that purpose? And if I be obliged to submit to the established government till my turn comes to assent to it, upon what principle is that obligation founded? Surely not upon the contract into which my father entered before I was born?

What is the form of engagement ?

Secondly, what is the nature of the confent, in consequence of which I am to be reckoned the subject of any particular government? It is usually said, " that acquiescence is sufficient; and that this acquiescence is to be inferred from my living quietly under the protection of the laws." But if this be true, an end is as effectually put to all political science, all discrimination of better and worse, as by any system invented by the most flavish sycophant that ever existed. Upon this hypothesis every government that is quietly submitted to is a lawful government, whether it be the usurpation of Cromwel or the tyranny of Caligula. Acquiescence is frequently nothing more than a choice on the part of the individual of what he deems the least evil. In many cases it is not so much as this, since the peasant and the artisan, who form the bulk of a nation, however diffatisfied with the government of their country, feldom have it in their power to transport themselves to another. It is also to be observed upon the fystem of acquiescence, that it is in little agreement with the established opinions and practices of mankind. Thus what has been called the law of nations, lays least stress upon the allegiance of a foreigner fettling among us, though his acquiescence is certainly most complete; while natives removing into an uninhabited region are claimed by the mother country, and removing into a neighbouring territory are punished by municipal law, if they take arms against the country in which they were born. Now furely acquiescence can scarcely be construed into consent, while the individuals concerned are wholly unapprifed of the authority intended to be rested upon it. *

Mr. Locke, the great champion of the doctrine of an original contract, has been aware of this difficulty, and therefore observes, that "a tacit consent indeed obliges a man to obey the laws of any government, as long as he has any possessions, or enjoyment of any part of the dominions of that government; but nothing can make a man a member of the commonwealth, but his actually entering into it by positive engagement, and express promise and compact. †" A singular distinction; implying upon the face of it, that an acquiescence, such as has just been defcribed, is sufficient to render a man amenable to the penal regulations of fociety; but that his own confent is necessary to entitle him to its privileges.

A third objection to the focial contract will suggest itself, as Over how foon as we attempt to ascertain the extent of the obligation, even

Supposing

^{*} See Hume's Essays. Part II. Essay xii.

[†] Treatise of Government. Book II. Ch. viii. §. 119, 122.

BOOK III. supposing it to have been entered into in the most solemn manner by every member of the community. Allowing that I am. called upon, at the period of my coming of age for example, todeclare my affent or diffent to any system of opinions or any code of practical institutes; for how long a period does this declaration bind me? Am I precluded from better information for the whole course of my life? And, if not for my whole life,. why for a year, a week or even an hour? If my deliberate judgment or my real fentiment be of no avail in the case, in: what fense can it be affirmed that all lawful government is: founded in my confent?

To how great

But the question of time is not the only difficulty. If your demand my affent to any proposition, it is necessary that the proposition should be stated simply and clearly. So numerous. are the varieties of human understanding, in all cases where its. independence and integrity are fufficiently preferved, that there is little chance of any two men coming to a precise agreement: about ten successive propositions that are in their own nature: open to debate. What then can be more abfurd than to prefent_ to me the laws of England in fifty volumes folio, and call upon: me to give an honest and uninfluenced vote upon their whole: contents at once?

Can it extend

But the focial contract, confidered as the foundation of civil: government, requires more of me than this. I am not only obliged

obliged to confent to all the laws that are actually upon record, BOOK III. but to all the laws that shall hereafter be made. It was under this view of the subject, that Rousseau, in tracing the confequences of the focial contract, was led to affert, that "the great body of the people, in whom the fovereign authority refides, can neither delegate nor refign it. The essence of that authority," he adds, "is the general will; and will cannot be reprefented. It must either be the same or another; there is no alternative. The deputies of the people cannot be its representatives; they are merely its attorneys. The laws, that the community does not ratify in person, are no laws, are nullities.*"

The difficulty here stated has been endeavoured to be provided Addresses of against by some late advocates for liberty, in the way of addresses sidered. of adhesion; addresses, originating in the various districts and departments of a nation, and without which no regulation of constitutional importance is to be deemed valid. But this is a very inadequate and superficial remedy. The addressers of course have feldom any other remedy than that above described, of in-

* " La souveraineté ne peut être representée, par la même raison qu'elle ne peut être alience ; elle confifte effentiellement dans la volonté générale, et la volonté ne se represente point : elle est la même, ou elle est autre ; il n'y a point de milieu. Les deputés du peuple ne sont donc point ses representans, ils ne sont que ses commissaires; ils ne peuvent rien conclure definitivement. Toute loi que le peuple en personne n'a pas ratifiée, est Du Contract Social. Liv. III. Chap. xv.

discriminate

OF THE SOCIAL CONTRACT.

BOOK U.F. discriminate admission or rejection. There is an infinite difference between the first deliberation, and the subsequent exercise of a negative. The former is a real power, the latter is feldom: more than the shadow of a power. Not to add, that addresses are a most precarious and equivocal mode of collecting the sense of a nation. They are usually voted in a tumultuous and summary manner; they are carried along by the tide of party; and: the fignatures: annexed to them are obtained by indirect and accidental methods, while multitudes of bystanders, unless upon some extraordinary occasion, remain ignorant of or indifferent to the transaction.

Lastly, if government be founded in the consent of the people, it can have no power over any individual by whom that confent is refused. If a tacit consent be not sufficient, still less can I be deemed to have confented to a measure upon which I put an express negative. This immediately follows from the observations of Rousseau. If the people, or the individuals of whom the people is constituted, cannot delegate their authority to a representative; neither can any individual delegate his authority: to a majority, in an assembly of which he is himself a member. The rules by which my actions shall be directed are matters of a. confideration entirely personal; and no man can transfer to another the keeping of his conscience and the judging of his duties. But this brings us back to the point from which we let

out. No consent of ours can divest us of our moral capacity. This is a species of property which we can neither barter nor refign; and of consequence it is impossible for any government to derive its authority from an original contract.

CHAP.

CHAP. III.

OF PROMISES.

"THE VALIDITY OF PROMISES EXAMINED.—SHEWN TO BE INCONSISTENT WITH JUSTICE.—TO BE FOREIGN TO THE
GENERAL GOOD.—OF THE EXPECTATION EXCITED.—THE
FULFILLING EXPECTATION DOES NOT IMPLY THE VALIDITY OF A PROMISE.—CONCLUSION.

BOOK III.
CHAP. III.
The validity
of promifes
examined.

HE whole principle of an original contract proceeds upon the obligation under which we are placed to observe our promises. The reasoning upon which it is sounded is, " that we have promised obedience to government, and therefore are bound to obey." It may consequently be proper to enquire into the nature of this obligation to observe our promises.

:Shewn to be inconfiftent with juffice:

We have already established justice as the sum of moral and political duty. Is justice then in its own nature precarious or immutable? Surely immutable. As long as men are men, the conduct I am bound to observe respecting them must remain the same. A good man must always be the proper object of my support and cooperation; vice of my censure; and the vicious man of instruction and resorm.

What is it then to which the obligation of a promise applies? BOOK III. What I have promifed is either right, or wrong, or indifferent. There are few articles of human conduct that fall under the latter: class; and the greater shall be our improvements in moral sciencethe fewer still will they appear. Omitting these, let us then confider only the two preceding classes. "I have promifed to do fomething just and right." This certainly I ought to perform. Why? Not because I promised, but because justice prescribes it. "I have promifed to bestow a sum of money upon some good and respectable purpose. In the interval between the promise and my fulfilling it, a greater and nobler purpose offers itself, and calls with an imperious voice for my cooperation." Which ought I to prefer? That which best deserves my preference. A promise can make no alteration in the case. I ought to be guided by the intrinsic merit of the objects, and not by any external: and foreign confideration. No engagements of mine can change: their intrinsic claims.

All this must be exceedingly plain to the reader who has followed me in my early reasonings upon the nature of justice. If every shilling of our property, every hour of our time and every faculty of our mind, have already received their destination from the principles of immutable justice, promises have no department left upon which for them to decide. Justice it appears therefore ought to be done, whether we have promised it or not. If we discover any thing to be unjust, we ought to abstain from it, with what-

ever:

What

BOOK III. CHAP. III.

ever folemnity we have engaged for its perpetration. We were erroneous and vicious when the promife was made; but this affords no fufficient reason for its performance.

rto be foreign to ge-

But it will be faid, " if promises be not made, or when made be not fulfilled, how can the affairs of the world be carried on?" By rational and intelligent beings acting as if they were rational and intelligent. A promise would perhaps be sufficiently innocent, if it were understood merely as declaratory of intention, and not as precluding farther information. Even in this restrained fense however it is far from being generally necessary. Why should it be supposed that the affairs of the world would not go on fufficiently well, though my neighbour could no farther depend upon my affistance than it appeared rational to grant it? This would be a sufficient dependence if I were honest, nor would he if he were honest desire any thing more. If I were dishonest, if I could not be bound by the reason and justice of the case, it would afford him a slender additional dependence to call in the aid of a principle founded in prejudice and mistake: not to fay, that, let it afford ever fo great advantage in any particular case, the evil of the immoral precedent would outweigh the individual advantage.

It may be farther objected, " that this principle might be fufficiently fuited to a better and more perfect state of fociety, but that at present there are dishonest members of the community,

who will not perform their duty, if they be not bound to it by BOOK III. fome groffer motive, than the mere moral confideration." Be it so. This is a question altogether different from that we have been examining. We are not now enquiring whether the community ought to animadvert upon the errors of its members. This animadversion the upright man is not backward to encounter, and willingly risks the penalty, which the society (for the fociety is more competent to ascertain the just amount of the penalty than the preceding caprice of the parties) has awarded in cases apparently similar, if he conceive that his duty requires from him that risk.

But to return to the case of promises. I shall be told, that, Of the expec " in choosing between two purposes about which to employ my ted. money, my time or my talents, my promise may make an essential difference, and therefore having once been given ought to be fulfilled. The party to whom it was made has had expectations excited in him, which I ought not to disappoint; the party to whom I am under no engagement has no fuch disappointment to encounter." What is this tenderness to which I am bound, this expectation I must not dare to disappoint? An expectation that I should do wrong, that I should prefer a less good to a greater, that I should commit absolute evil; for such must be the result when the balance has been struck. "But his expectation has altered the nature of his fituation, has engaged him in X

under-

BOOK III. CHAP. III

undertakings from which he would otherwise have abstained." Be it so. He and all other men will be taught to depend more upon their own exertions, and less upon the assistance of others, which caprice may refuse, or justice oblige me to withhold. He and all others will be taught to acquire such merit, and to engage in such pursuits, as shall oblige every honest man to come to their fuccour, if they should stand in need of assistance. The resolute execution of justice, without listening to that false pity, which, to do imaginary kindness to one, would lead us to injure the whole, would in a thousand ways increase the independence, the energies and the virtue of mankind.

The fulfilling

Let us however suppose, "that my conduct ought to be influenced by this previous expectation of the individual." Let us suppose, " that, in selecting an individual for a certain office, my choice ought not to be governed merely by the abstract fitness of the candidates, but that I ought to take into the account the extreme value of the appointment from certain circumstances to one of the candidates, and its comparative inutility to the other." Let us farther suppose, " that the expectation excited in one of them has led him into studies and pursuits to qualify himself for the office, which will be useless if he do not succeed to it; and that this is one of the considerations which ought to govern my determination."—All this does not come up to what we have been taught respecting the obligation of a promise.

For,

For, first, it may be observed, that it seems to be of little confequence in this statement, whether the expectation were excited by a direct promife or in some other manner, whether it were excited by a declaration of mine or of a third person, or lastly, whether it arose singly out of the reason of the case and the pure deductions and reflections of the expecter's mind. Upon every one of these suppositions his conduct, and the injury he may fultain from a disappointment, will remain the same. Here then all that has been commonly understood by the obligation of a promise is excluded. The motive to be attended to, flows from no solemn engagement of mine, but from an incidental consequence of my declaration, and which might just as easily have been the consequence of many other circumstances. The confideration by which it becomes me to be influenced is, not a regard for veracity, or a particular defire to preserve my integrity, both of which are in reality wholly unconcerned in the transaction, but an attention to the injury to be fullained by the losing candidate, whatever might be the original occasion of the conduct out of which the injury has proceeded.

OF PROMISES.

Let us take an example of a still simpler nature. " I live in Westminster; and I engage to meet the captain of a ship from Blackwal at the Royal Exchange. My engagement is of the nature of information to him, that I shall be at the Exchange at a certain hour. He accordingly lays afide his other business, and comes thither to meet me." This is a reason why I should

X 2

not fail him unless for some very material cause. But it would feem as if the reason why I should not fail him would be equally cogent, if I knew from any other fource that he would be there, and that a quantity of convenience equal to the quantity upon the former supposition would accrue from my meeting him. It may be faid, "that it is effential to various circumstances of human intercourse, that we should be able to depend on each other for a steady adherence to engagements of this fort." The statement however would be somewhat more accurate if we faid, "that it was essential to various circumstances of human intercourse, that we should be known to bestow a steady attention upon the quantities of convenience or inconvenience, of good or evil, that might arise to others from our conduct."

It is undoubtedly upon this hypothesis a part of our duty to make as few promifes or declarations exciting appropriate expectations as possible. He who lightly gives to another the idea that he will govern himself in his future conduct, not by the views that shall be present to his mind when the conduct shall come to be determined on, but by the view he shall be able to take of it at some preceding period, is vicious in so doing. But the obligation he is under respecting his future conduct is, to act justly, and not, because he has committed one error, for that reason to become guilty of a second.

[157

CHAP. IV.

OF POLITICAL AUTHORITY.

COMMON DELIBERATION THE TRUE FOUNDATION OF GO-VERNMENT-PROVED FROM THE EQUAL CLAIMS OF MANKIND-FROM THE NATURE OF OUR FACULTIES-FROM THE OBJECT OF GOVERNMENT-FROM THE EF-FECTS OF COMMON DELIBERATION .- DELEGATION VIN-DICATED. - DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE DOCTRINE HERE MAINTAINED AND THAT OF A SOCIAL CONTRACT AP-PARENT-FROM THE MERELY PROSPECTIVE NATURE OF THE FORMER—FROM THE NULLITY OF PROMISES—FROM THE FALLIBILITY OF DELIBERATION .- CONCLUSION.

TAVING rejected the hypotheses that have most generally BOOK III. CHAP. IV. been adduced to account for the origin of government confidently with the principles of moral justice, let us enquire whether we may not arrive at the same object, by a simple investigation of the obvious reason of the case, without having recourse to any refinement of system or siction of process.

Government then being introduced for the reasons already Common deaffigned, the first and most important principle that can be ima- true foundagined relative to its form and structure, seems to be this; that, as vernment:

government

CHAP.

BOOK III. government is a transaction in the name and for the benefit of the whole, every member of the community ought to have some share in its administration. The arguments in support of this proposition are various.

proted from the equal claims of mankind:

1. It has already appeared that there is no criterion perspicuously designating any one man or set of men to preside over the rest.

from the nature of our : faculties :

2. All men are partakers of the common faculty reason, and may be supposed to have some communication with the common preceptor truth. It would be wrong in an affair of fuch momentous concern, that any chance for additional wisdom should be rejected; nor can we tell in many cases till after the experiment how eminent any individual may one day be found in the business of guiding and deliberating for his fellows.

3. Government is a contrivance instituted for the security of individuals; and it feems both reasonable that each man should have a share in providing for his own security, and probable that partiality and cabal should by this means be most effectually excluded.

from the ef-

4. Lastly, to give each man a voice in the public concerns comes nearest to that admirable idea of which we should never lose fight, the uncontrolled exercise of private judgment. Each man would thus be inspired with a consciousness of his own importance, ance, and the flavish feelings that shrink up the foul in the prefence of an imagined superior would be unknown.

Admitting then the propriety of each man having a share in directing the affairs of the whole in the first instance, it seems necessary that he should concur, in electing a house of representatives, if he be the member of a large state; or, even in a small one, that he should assist in the appointment of officers and administrators; which implies, first, a delegation of authority to these officers, and, secondly, a tacit consent, or rather an admission of the necessity, that the questions to be debated should abide the decision of a majority.

But to this fystem of delegation the same objections may be Delegation urged, that were cited from Rousseau in the chapter of the Social Contract. It may be alleged that, "if it be the business of every man to exercise his own judgment, he can in no instance surrender this function into the hands of another."

To this objection it may be answered, first, that the parallel is by no means complete between an individual's exercise of his judgment in a case that is truly his own, and his exercise of his judgment in an article where the necessity and province of government are already admitted. Wherever there is a government,

there must be a will superfeding that of individuals. It is abfurd

лбо

BOOK III. to expect that every member of a fociety should agree with every other member in the various measures it may be found necessary to adopt. The same necessity, that requires the introduction of force to suppress injustice on the part of a few, requires that the fentiments of the majority should direct that force, and that the minority should either secede, or patiently wait for the period when the truth on the subject contested shall be generally understood.

> Secondly, delegation is not, as at first fight it might appear to be, the act of one man committing to another a function, which strictly speaking it became him to exercise for himself. Delegation, in every instance in which it can be reconciled with justice, is an act which has for its object the general good. The individuals to whom the delegation is made, are either more likely from talents or leifure to perform the function in the most eligible manner, or at least there is some public interest requiring that it should be performed by one or a few persons, rather than by every individual for himself. This is the case, whether in that first and simplest of all delegations the prerogative of a majority, or in the election of a house of representatives, or in the appointment of public officers. Now all contest as to the person who shall exercise a certain function, and the propriety of resigning it, is frivolous, the moment it is decided how and by whom it can most advantageously be exercised. It is of no consequence

that I am the parent of a child, when it has once been ascertain- BOOK III. ed that the child will receive greater benefit by living under the superintendence of a stranger.

Lastly, it is a mistake to imagine that the propriety of restraining me when my conduct is injurious, rifes out of any delegation of mine. The justice of employing force when every other means was infufficient, is even prior to the existence of society. Force ought never to be reforted to but in cases of absolute neceffity; and, when fuch cases occur, it is the duty of every man to defend himself from violation. There is therefore no delegation necessary on the part of the offender; but the community in the censure it exercises over him stands in the place of the injured party.

It may perhaps by some persons be imagined, that the doctrine Difference here delivered of the justice of proceeding in common concerns. doctrine here by a common deliberation, is nearly coincident with that other and that of a doctrine which teaches that all lawful government derives its tract appaauthority from a focial contract. Let us confider what is the true difference between them.

In the first place, the doctrine of common deliberation is of a from the prospective, and not a retrospective nature. Is the question respecting some future measure to be adopted in behalf of the former community? Here the obligation to deliberate in common pre-

BOOK III. fents itself, as eminently to be preferred to every other mode of deciding upon the interests of the whole. Is the question whether I shall yield obedience to any measure already promulgated? Here I have nothing to do with the consideration of how the measure originated; unless perhaps in a country where common deliberation has in some fort been admitted as a standing principle, and where the object may be to relist an innovation upon this principle. In the case of ship money under king Charles the first, it was perhaps fair to resist the tax, even suppoling it to be abstractedly a good one, upon account of the authority imposing it; though that reason might be insufficient, in a country unused to representative taxation.

> Exclusively of this consideration, no measure is to be resisted on account of the irregularity of its derivation. If it be just, it is entitled both to my chearful fubmission and my zealous support. So far as it is deficient in justice, I am bound to relist. My situation in this respect is in no degree different from what it was previously to all organised government. Justice was at that time entitled to my affent, and injustice to my disapprobation. They can never cease to have the same claims upon me, till they shall cease to be distinguished by the same unalterable properties. The measure of my resistance will however vary with circumstances, and therefore will demand from us a separate examination.

> > Secondly,

Secondly, the distinction between the doctrine here advanced BOOK III. and that of a focial contract will be better understood, if we recollect what has been faid upon the nature and validity of promiles. If promise be in all cases a fallacious mode of binding a man to a specific mode of action, then must the argument be in all cases impertinent, that I consented to such a decision, and am therefore bound to regulate myself accordingly. It is impossible to imagine a principle of more injurious tendency, than that which shall teach me to disarm my future wisdom by my past folly, and to confult for my direction the errors in which my ignorance has involved me, rather than the code of eternal truth. So far as consent has any validity, abstract justice becomes a matter of pure indifference: fo far as justice deserves to be made the guide of my life, it is in vain to endeavour to share its au-

We have found the parallel to be in one respect incomplete from the fallibility of between the exercise of these two functions, private judgment and common deliberation. In another respect the analogy is exceedingly striking, and considerable perspicuity will be given to our ideas of the latter by an illustration borrowed from the former. In the one case as in the other there is an obvious principle of justice in favour of the general exercise. No individual can arrive at any degree of moral or intellectual improvement, unless in the use of an independent judgment. No state

thority with compacts and promifes.

164

BOOK III. can be well or happily administered, unless in the perpetual use of common deliberation respecting the measures it may be requifite to adopt. But, though the general exercise of these faculties be founded in immutable justice, justice will by no means uniformly vindicate the particular application of them. Private judgment and public deliberation are not themselves the standard of moral right and wrong; they are only the means of discovering right and wrong, and of comparing particular propositions with the standard of eternal truth.

Too much stress has undoubtedly been laid upon the idea, as of a grand and magnificent spectacle, of a nation deciding for itself upon some great public principle, and of the highest magistracy yielding its claims when the general voice has pronounced. The value of the whole must at last depend upon the quality of their decision. Truth cannot be made more true by the number of its votaries. Nor is the spectacle much less interesting, of a folitary individual bearing his undaunted testimony in favour of justice, though opposed by misguided millions. Within certain limits however the beauty of the exhibition must be acknowledged. That a nation should dare to vindicate its function of common deliberation, is a step gained, and a step that inevitably leads to an improvement of the character of individuals. That men should unite in the affertion of truth, is no unpleasing evidence of their virtue. Lastly, that an individual, however great may.

may be his imaginary elevation, should be obliged to yield his BOOK III. personal pretensions to the sense of the community, at least bears the appearance of a practical confirmation of the great principle, that all private confiderations must yield to the gene-

OF POLITICAL AUTHORITY.

CHAP.

SOCIETY CAN DECLARE AND INTERPRET, BUT CANNOT ENACT .--- ITS AUTHORITY ONLY EXECUTIVE.

BOOK III. CHAP. V.

TAVING thus far investigated the nature of political functions, it feems necessary that some explanation should be given in this place upon the subject of legislation. Who is it that has the authority to make laws? What are the characteristics by which that man or body of men is to be known, in whom the faculty is vested of legislating for the rest?

To these questions the answer is exceedingly simple: Legislainterpret, but tion, as it has been usually understood, is not an affair of human cannot enact. competence. Reason is the only legislator, and her decrees are irrevocable and uniform. The functions of fociety extend, not to the making, but the interpreting of law; it cannot decree, it can only declare that, which the nature of things has already decreed, and the propriety of which irrefiftibly flows from the circumstances of the case. Montesquieu says, that " in a free state state every man will be his own legislator *." This is not true, fetting apart the functions of the community, unless in the limited fense already explained. It is the office of conscience to determine, " not like an Afiatic cadi, according to the ebbs and flows of his own passions, but like a British judge, who makes no new law, but faithfully declares that law which he finds already written†."

OF LEGISLATION.

The fame distinction is to be made upon the subject of autho- Its authority rity. All political power is strictly speaking executive. It has tive. appeared to be necessary, with respect to men as we at present find them, that force should sometimes be employed in repressing injustice; and for the same reasons it appears that this force should as far as possible be vested in the community. To the public support of justice therefore the authority of the community extends. But no fooner does it wander in the smallest degree from the great line of justice, than its authority is at an end, it stands upon a level with the obscurest individual, and every man is bound to refift its decisions.

^{* &}quot; Dans un état libre, tout homme qui est cense avoir une ame libre, doit être gouverné par lui-même."

[†] Sterne's Sermons .- "On a Good Conscience.

OBEDIENCE NOT THE CORRELATIVE OF AUTHORITY .-- NO MAN BOUND TO YIELD OBEDIENCE TO ANOTHER.-CASE OF SUBMISSION CONSIDERED. - FOUNDATION OF OBEDI-ENCE.—USEFULNESS OF SOCIAL COMMUNICATION.—CASE OF CONFIDENCE CONSIDERED. —ITS LIMITATIONS. — MIS-CHIEF OF UNLIMITED CONFIDENCE, SUBJECTION EX-PLAINED.

TAVING enquired into the just and legitimate source of authority, we will next turn our attention to what has usually been considered as its correlative, obedience. This has always been found a subject of peculiar difficulty, as well in relation to the measure and extent of obedience, as to the source of our obligation to obey.

The true folution will probably be found in the observation that obedience is by no means the proper correlative. The object of government, as has been already demonstrated, is the exertion of force. Now force can never be regarded as an appeal to the understanding; and therefore obedience, which is an

act of the understanding or will, can have no legitimate connec- BOOK III. tion with it. I am bound to fubmit to justice and truth, because they approve themselves to my judgment. I am bound to co-operate with government, as far as it appears to me to coincide with these principles. But I submit to government when I think it erroneous, mercly because I have no remedy.

No truth can be more simple, at the same time that no truth No man has been more darkened by the glosses of interested individuals, yield obedithan that one man can in no case be bound to yield obedience another. to any other man or fet of men upon earth.

There is one rule to which we are univerfally bound to conform ourselves, justice, the treating every man precisely as his usefulness and worth demand, the acting under every circumstance in the manner that shall procure the greatest quantity of general good. When we have done thus, what province is there left to the disposal of obedience?

I am fummoned to appear before the magistrate to answer Case of subfor a libel, an imaginary crime, an act which perhaps I am convinced ought in no case to fall under the animadversion of law. I comply with this fummons. My compliance proceeds, perhaps from a conviction that the arguments I shall exhibit in the court form the best resistance I can give to his injustice, or perhaps

from

BOOK III. CHAP. VI.

from perceiving that my non-compliance would frivolously and without real use interrupt the public tranquillity.

A quaker refuses to pay tithes. He therefore suffers a tithe proctor to distrain upon his goods. In this action morally speaking he does wrong. The distinction he makes is the argument of a mind that delights in trifles. That which will be taken from me by force, it is no breach of morality to deliver with my own hand. The money which the robber extorts from me, I do not think it necessary to oblige him to take from my person. If I walk quietly to the gallows, this does not imply my confent to be hanged.

In all these cases there is a clear distinction between my compliance with justice and my compliance with injustice. I conform to the principles of justice, because I perceive them to be intrinsically and unalterably right. I yield to injustice, though I perceive that to which I yield to be abstractedly wrong, and only choose the least among inevitable evils.

The case of volition, as it is commonly termed, seems parallel to that of intellect. You present a certain proposition to my mind, to which you require my affent. If you accompany the proposition with evidence calculated to shew the agreement between the terms of which it confifts, you may obtain my affent.

If you accompany the proposition with authority, telling me BOOK III. that you have examined it and find it to be true, that thousands of wife and difinterested men have admitted it, that angels or Gods have affirmed it, I may affent to your authority; but, with respect to the proposition itself, my understanding of its reasonableness, my perception of that in the proposition which strictly speaking constitutes its truth or its falshood, remain just as they did. I believe fomething elfe, but I do not believe the proposition.

Just so in morals. I may be persuaded of the propriety of yielding compliance to a requisition the justice of which I cannot discern, as I may be persuaded to yield compliance to a requisition which I know to be unjust. But neither of these requisitions is strictly speaking a proper subject of obedience. Obedience feems rather to imply the unforced choice of the mind and affent of the judgment. But the compliance I yield to government, independently of my approbation of its meafures, is of the fame species as my compliance with a wild beaft, that forces me to run north, when my judgment and inclination prompted me to go fouth.

But, though morality in its purest construction altogether Usefulness of excludes the idea of one man's yielding obedience to another, yet the greatest benefits will result from mutual communication. There is fearcely any man, whose communications will not

 Z_2

fome-